Public Document Pack
Copeland Borough Council
The Market Hall
Market Place
Whitehaven
CA28 7JG

SPECIAL EXECUTIVE
AGENDA
Venue:
This meeting will be a virtual meeting and therefore
will not take place in a physical location.
Date:
Thursday, 1st April, 2021
Time:
10.00 am
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby
Tel: 07385 362806
1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items:

3.

Locally Led Re-Organisation of Local Government in Cumbria

4.

Date and Time of Next Meeting:

1 - 140

The next meeting of the Executive will be held on Tuesday 20 April 2021 at
10:00am. This will be a virtual meeting.

NOTES
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers
except during the consideration of exempt or confidential items. If you have a
query on the meeting arrangements or if you require a copy of this document
in a different format (large print, braille, audio tape, electronic formats such
as CD or in a different language) please contact the relevant officer as shown
below.
Call-In
Most of the decisions taken by the Executive can be ‘called in’, in accordance
with Council’s Constitution, within 5 working days of the decision notice being
published. It is expected that the decision notice will be published on 8 April
2021. Subject to this publication, the deadline for calling in any decision is
5.00pm on 15 April 2021.
Contacts:

Direct Dial: 07385 362806
E-mail:
clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk
Website: www.copeland.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
Executive: 1st April 2021
LOCALLY LED RE-ORGANISATION OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT IN CUMBRA
Lead member:
Lead officer:
Report author:

Mike Starkie, Mayor (Portfolio holder for
strategic leadership);
Pat Graham, Chief Executive; and
Clinton Boyce, Solicitor.

Why has this report come to the Executive? (e.g. Committee request, update
report)
This report seeks Members’ view on a consultation document issued by the
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (‘MHCLG’) on the
22nd February 2021 and called ‘Consultation on proposals for locally-led
reorganisation of local government in Cumbria, North Yorkshire and Somerset’.
Within budget, the matter is, by law, an executive decision and the Executive’s
views on the principles of the proposed response are sought.
Summary
The report summarises the consultation, lists the required consultation
questions asked, outlines the internal consultation taken to date with nonexecutive members, including the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and
suggests how the Council should respond to them before the consultation
closing date of the 19th April 2021.

Recommendations:
(a)

That the consultation be noted;

(b)
That the comments made by Member working groups on the 12th
March (appendix B) and of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee following
its meeting on the 22nd March (paragraphs 3.3 and 3.4 of the report) be
noted;
(c) That the Executive considers what the Council’s formal response to the
consultation should be, to direct officers as to the principles and nature of
that response and to delegate to the Chief Executive the drafting, finalisation

Page 1

and submission of that response before the closing date of the 19th April
2021.

1.

INTRODUCTION

1.1

Members will recall that Councils in Cumbria have been developing ideas
about restructuring local government for some time and that they
requested an invitation from the Secretary of State to submit proposals
for unitary local government – a single tier of local government
delivering all of the local government services for the area.

1.2

The Government’s approach to local government reorganisation is that it
should be locally-led, on the basis that those in a local area are best
placed to know what is best for the area. This broader policy position
was reaffirmed by the Secretary of State in a written ministerial
statement published on 12 October 2020.

1.3

On 9 October 2020, in response to these requests, the Secretary of State
invited the councils to submit locally led proposals for unitary local
government. The invitations invited proposals for a single tier of local
government permissible under the primary legislation, explained that
proposals could be submitted by a council individually or jointly with
other councils receiving the invitation and included guidance on what
the proposals should seek to achieve, to which the councils were
required to have regard. These invitations started the legislative process
for restructuring local government in the three areas, which is set out in
the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (the
2007 Act).

1.4

The Secretary of State received four proposals from Councils in Cumbria
by the specified deadline of 9 December 2020.

1.5

The four proposals submitted were:
(1)

Allerdale Borough Council and Copeland Borough Council
submitted a joint proposal for two unitary councils covering the
whole of the area of the administrative county of Cumbria: one
unitary council in the West comprising the current districts of

Page 2

Allerdale, Carlisle and Copeland; and one in the East comprising
the current districts of Barrow, Eden and South Lakeland.
The Copeland proposal as submitted is attached as Appendix A to
this report and also available via this link https://www.copeland.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/lgr
_final.pdf .
(2)

Barrow Borough Council and South Lakeland District Council
submitted a joint proposal for two unitary councils covering the
whole of the area of the administrative county of Cumbria and the
administrative district area of Lancaster City within Lancashire
County: one unitary council (“The Bay”) comprising the current
districts of Barrow, Lancaster City (in Lancashire) and South
Lakeland; and one comprising the current districts of Allerdale,
Carlisle, Copeland and Eden districts in “North Cumbria”.

(3)

Carlisle City Council and Eden District Council submitted a joint
proposal for two unitary councils covering the whole of the area
of the administrative county of Cumbria: one unitary council in the
north comprising the current districts of Allerdale, Carlisle and
Eden; and one in the south comprising the current districts of
Barrow, Copeland and South Lakeland in the south.

(4)

Cumbria County Council submitted a proposal for a single unitary
council for the whole of the area of the administrative county of
Cumbria.

1.6

The 2007 Act requires that, before a proposal for local government
reorganisation can be implemented, the Secretary of State must first
consult any local authority that is affected by a proposal (but which has
not submitted it), and any such other persons as he considers
appropriate.

1.7

The Secretary of State launched this consultation on the 22nd February
2021. The main consultation document is available via this link –
https://consult.communities.gov.uk/governance-reform-anddemocracy/cumbria/supporting_documents/LGR%202021%20Consultati
on%20document.pdf . That is the overarching consultation document
and includes North Yorkshire and Somerset Councils. The consultation

Page 3

document for Cumbria is available via this link –
https://consult.communities.gov.uk/governance-reform-anddemocracy/cumbria/ . That link is to the main page of the Cumbria
consultation. The documents submitted by each of the seven Councils
are available via the links at the bottom of that page. Those links take
readers to the web sites of the individual councils which contain the final
proposal as submitted on behalf of each Council.
2.

THE CONSULTATION

2.1

The consultation begins by stating that “in deciding which proposal, if
any, to implement in an area, subject to Parliamentary approval, the
Secretary of State will make a balanced judgement assessing the
proposals against the three criteria set out in the statutory guidance
accompanying the invitation, and having regard to all representations
received, including responses to this consultation, and to all other
relevant information available to him. These criteria, which reflect
longstanding criteria for assessing unitary proposals, are that - a
proposal should seek to achieve for the area concerned the
establishment of a single tier of local government, that is, the
establishment of one or more unitary authorities:

2.2

(a)

which are likely to improve local government and service delivery
across the area of the proposal, giving greater value for money,
generating savings, providing stronger strategic and local
leadership, and which are more sustainable structures;

(b)

which command a good deal of local support as assessed in the
round overall across the whole area of the proposal; and

(c)

where the area of each unitary authority is a credible
geography consisting of one or more existing local government
areas with an aggregate population which is either within the
range 300,000 to 600,000, or such other figure that, having
regard to the circumstances of the authority, including local
identity and geography, could be considered substantial”.

It then reminds us of the following matters which were required to be
taken into account in submitting the final proposals and which remain
applicable:

Page 4

(a)

A proposal should describe clearly the single tier local government
structures it is putting forward, and explain how, if implemented,
these are expected to achieve the outcomes described above in
2.2;

(b)

The need for evidence and analysis to support a proposal and any
explanation of the outcomes it is expected to achieve, including
evidence of a good deal of local support;

(c)

The impact of any proposed unitary authorities on other local
boundaries and geographies. If the area of any proposed unitary
authority crosses existing police force and fire and rescue
authority boundaries, the proposal should include an assessment
of what the impact would be on the police forces and/or fire and
rescue authorities and include the views of the relevant Police and
Crime Commissioners and Fire and Rescue Authorities; and

(d)

Any wider context for any proposed unitary authorities around
promoting economic recovery and growth, including possible
future devolution deals and Mayoral Combined Authorities.

2.3

Importantly it then states “All … of the proposals submitted are for a
type of proposal which is permissible under the 2007 Act. The Secretary
of State is consulting on these proposals and welcoming views from any
interested persons, including residents, before he makes any assessment
of the merits of the proposals or considers them against the criteria” and
concludes by stating that “The Secretary of State may decide, subject to
Parliamentary approval, to implement a proposal with or without
modification, or to not implement any proposal for an area. He may also
seek advice from the Local Government Boundary Commission for
England. If any proposals are to be implemented, we would expect new
unitary councils to take on full council role from April 2023, with the
transitional arrangements in 2022-23 to support a smooth
implementation”.

2.4

The list of persons consulted is lengthy and for Cumbria is:

Page 5

(a)

The principal councils in the area (the seven) together with
Lancashire County Council, Lancaster City Council and ‘the district
councils within Lancashire County;

(b)

Neighbouring principal councils:
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council
Blackpool Council
Durham County Council
North Yorkshire County Council
The district councils within North Yorkshire County
The district councils within Lancashire County
Northumberland County Council
North of Tyne Combined Authority
North East Combined Authority

(c)

Public Service Bodies:
Health Bodies: NHS Morecambe Bay CCG, NHS North Cumbria
CCG, Calderdale & Huddersfield NHS Foundation Trust, North
Cumbria Integrated Care Foundation Trust, South West Yorkshire
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, University Hospitals of
Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust, Lancashire and South
Cumbria Integrated Care System, North East and North Cumbria
Integrated Care System, North West Ambulance Service NHS
Trust.
Policing, Fire and Rescue Bodies: Chief Constable of Cumbria
Constabulary, Chief Constable of Lancashire Constabulary, Chief
Fire Officer of Cumbria Fire and Rescue Service, Chief Fire
Officer of Lancashire Fire and Rescue, Cumbria Police and Crime
Commissioner, Lancashire Police and Crime Commissioner.

(d)

Other Public Sector Bodies:
Arnside and Silverdale Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Lake
District National Park Authority, North Pennines Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty, Solway Coast Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty, Yorkshire Dales National Park Authority, Nuclear
Decommissioning Authority, Independent Chair of the Cumbria
Children’s Safeguarding Partnership, Independent Chair of the

Page 6

Safeguarding Adults’ Board, Dumfries & Galloway Council, Scottish
Borders Council, Transport for the North.
(e)

Business Bodies:
Cumbria Chamber of Commerce, Cumbria Local Enterprise
Partnership, Federation of Small Businesses (Lancashire &
Cumbria), Lancashire Local Enterprise Partnership, Lancashire
Chamber of Commerce, Sellafield Ltd.

(f)

Voluntary Sector Bodies:
Cumbria Community Foundation, Cumbria Council for Voluntary
Services, Cumbria Third Sector Network, Lancaster Council for
Voluntary Services.

(g)

Education Bodies:
Lancaster University, University of Central Lancashire, University
of Cumbria.

(h)

Other Bodies:
Cumbria Tourism, Lord-Lieutenant for Cumbria, Lord-Lieutenant
for Lancashire.

(i)

National Bodies:
Environment Agency, Highways England, Local Government
Association, National Housing Federation, National Association of
Local Councils, Public Health England.

2.5

The consultation questions are as follows:

“(1)

Is the Councils’ proposal likely to improve local government and
service delivery across each area? Specifically, is it likely to
improve council services, give greater value for money, generate
savings, provide stronger strategic and local leadership,
and create more sustainable structures?

Page 7

(2)

Where it is proposed that services will be delivered on a different
geographic footprint to currently, or through some form of joint
arrangements is this likely to improve those services? Such
services may for example be children’s services, waste collection
and disposal, adult health and social care, planning, and transport.

(3)

Is the councils’ proposal also likely to impact local public services
delivered by others, such as police, fire and rescue, and health
services?

(4)

Do you support the proposal from the councils?

(5)

Do the unitary councils proposed by the councils represent a
credible geography?

(6)

Do you have any other comments with regards to the proposed
reorganisation of local government in each area?

Please indicate reasons for your answers”.
2.6

As stated, the closing date is the 19th April.

3.

CONSULTATION WITH MEMBERS

3.1

A briefing/discussion was held with all members on the 12th March. A
summary of that discussion is attached as Appendix B to this report.

3.2

On the 22nd March the Overview and Scrutiny Committee met to
consider the consultation. At that meeting the Chief Executive outlined
the Council’s current position (supporting an east (Eden, South Lakeland
and Barrow)/west (Copeland, Allerdale and Carlisle) split) and explained
the other options being proposed. She commented that the Morecambe
Bay proposal was posing a number of challenges as it included areas
outside of Cumbria. She indicated that a decision from the Secretary of
State is expected late summer and explained the tight timescale
culminating in a new authority in April 2023. She took members through
each of the options as follows applying the assessment criteria referred
to in 2.1 above:

Page 8

East/west (as proposed by Copeland)
It is felt that this very strongly represents our local need. The natural
connectivity is to the north along the coastal strip to Allerdale and then
Carlisle. It is considered that this option will be paid off in 2 years and
drive significant savings freeing up funding to allow reinvestment and
improvements. Running costs will be 7% lower than now, so
representing value for money. The County Council currently runs its
services through a locality model with three areas so there is no reason
this 2 model should not work.
If a combined authority is then created then this would drive
investment. Police and fire could sit within the combined authority. Also
protects safeguarding by having all ‘blue lights’ together.
In respect of people services two smaller services will improve resilience.
Health alignment which does not work on any authority boundary at the
moment remains a problem. In respect of credible geography the west
has a sporting and industrial culture with economic geography being
evidenced in a number of places.
The Bay model
There is a lot of merit in a Bay authority – history, health and strength
that works. Not a bad model and it is good to have aspirations in
different proposals but issues for the Government are that it is light on
detail and creates disruption across two counties which is not addressed
in the proposal. For this reason it is a partial, light proposal. Police in
both counties object to this model. Also has largest implementation cost
at £24m.
North/south unitaries
We do not propose to comment too much on this proposal. It has the
same issues as the Copeland proposal but additionally does not support
community identity as its people will not be linked with Allerdale.
Importantly it could jeopardise the whole of the central government
policy on nuclear, making it more difficult to deliver such ambitions.

Page 9

County unitary
There are benefits – the proposal is simple, ease of implementation,
single point of contact and can achieve significant savings (£96m over 5
years). However there are shortcomings – the proposal says very little
on opportunities for transformation and how services will be delivered
locally. Of concern is the aim to make savings of £96m over 5 years and
the extent to which that will impact service delivery. There is nothing in
the County model about devolution, combined authorities, etc. With a
unitary model there is nothing to combine.
Overall every model has strengths and weaknesses but it is believed that
the Council’s proposed option is the best.
3.3

Members raised a number of points:
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)
(e)

(f)

What was Carlisle’s preferred option? The Chief Executive
explained that there were a number of abstentions there but that
their Executive had submitted a north-south bid;
Whether any change resulting from the Police and Crime
Commissioner election would result in a different approach being
taken? The Chief Executive explained that it would have no
bearing on the eventual structure.
Why is there an assumption that east/west will lead to mayoral
model? None of the proposals will directly lead to mayoral
authority.
What is best for our residents, particularly younger ones, is what
is important.
Whilst the proposal might be right in terms of sense of place,
people and history reservations were expressed as to why
including Barrow in the Council’s proposal was not considered.
The Chief Executive commented that Barrow as part of the Bay
proposal had already advanced their proposal prior to Copeland
stating theirs. There is no desire by Barrow to be with Copeland.
Also geographically there might be issues as our boundary is not
coterminous with the Barrow boundary (South LDC intervenes);
We are smallest of three authorities – what guarantees do we
have that we will be adequately represented? The Chief Executive
commented that all areas of the new authority would be
represented.

Page 10

(g)
(h)

(i)
(j)

clarification was given around the role of KPMG in the process.
concerns expressed about the mayoral model of governance and
how it was not working in terms of the majority of members being
alienated from actual decision-making.
emerging consensus that the current model is not fit for purpose
due to difficulties with budget, or lack of it.
Officers were praised for their tremendous work in progressing
the proposal to where we are today.

3.4

Overall members of the Committee were unsure which proposal they
preferred and therefore what form the response to the consultation
should take. There was clear disappointment at the option of
Allerdale/Copeland/Barrow not being progressed as that would have
supported nuclear issues with some members commenting that that
would have been there preferred option. It would have provided a
workable east-west split of two authorities. Given the lack of that option
some members preferred the Council’s proposed option over the others.
Some members stated that they preferred the County option. Councillor
Pollen indicated that this was Councillor Meteer’s (apologies for absence
received) preferred option. Overall the Committee did not feel that they
could give a clear direction to the Executive on what the response to the
consultation should be with members expressing differing views on the
way forward and which option should be progressed.

4.

PROPOSED RESPONSE BY THIS COUNCIL

4.1

It is recommended that any response should respect the other
submissions but yet continue to demonstrate that the proposal already
submitted by the Council is by far the best in terms of improving local
government and service delivery, giving greater value for money,
generating savings, providing stronger strategic and local leadership, has
more sustainable structures and that the area of the new authority is
geographically and, in respect of local identity, credible.

4.2

KPMG has undertaken some work on preparing a response for the
Council. The latest draft is attached as Appendix C. This supports the
Council’s original bid and responds to the consultation questions. It also
provides a strengths, weakness, opportunities and threats analysis on
the Bay and County proposals and makes a comparison with the

Page 11

east/west proposal. It is recommended that this document, Appendix C,
forms the basis of the Council’s response.
5.

CONCLUSION

5.1

This is the next stage in local government re-organisation. It is
recommended that the Council continues to maintain its original
position on this matter namely to request two unitary councils covering
the whole of the area of the administrative county of Cumbria: one
unitary council in the West comprising the current districts of Allerdale,
Carlisle and Copeland; and one in the East comprising the current
districts of Barrow, Eden and South Lakeland.

5.2

The document prepared by KPMG at Appendix C could form the basis of
the Council’s response to the consultation. The Executive is asked to
consider that document and provide a steer on what the Council’s
formal response to the consultation should be, to direct officers as to
the principles and nature of that response and to delegate to the Chief
Executive the drafting, finalisation and submission of that response
before the closing date of the 19th April 2021.

6.

STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS

6.1

Monitoring Officer’s comments: Contained within the report.

6.2

Legal comments: Solicitor is report author; any legal issues are
addressed within the report.

6.3

Section 151 Officer Comments: The immediate financial costs and the
engagement of KPMG have been dealt with in previous reports to the
Executive. No further financial implications arise at this time. As part of
budget setting for 2021/22 Council approved a further £125,000 to
progress local government re-organisation after the 1st April should it
move to the next stage. The possible savings arising from re-organisation
are set out in the full business case.

6.4

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Comments: Ability to access services
might be affected particularly those with the protected characteristics of
age and/or disability where a resident may have to access a service they
use at a different location, possibly farther away. This may be less likely

Page 12

with the Council’s proposal than with a larger unitary. A potential impact
in this regard is flagged at this stage. If the matter progresses, dialogue
between any new unitary authorities and outgoing authorities will be
needed to ensure that there is an appropriate and mitigated transition in
service delivery and that future arrangements protect those with such
characteristics.
6.5

Policy framework: Local Government Reorganisation and Devolution
would provide the residents of Cumbria with a model of local
government that is better placed to deliver the strategic ambitions
laid out in the Council’s Corporate Strategy.

6.6

Other consultee comments, if any: none.

Background Papers:
Government consultation documents;
Final proposal/full business case previously submitted; and
KPMG draft response document.
Appendices:
Appendix A
Appendix B
Appendix C

Council’s final proposal as submitted in December 2020;
Notes of Working Groups held on Friday 12th March; and
Draft consultation response prepared by KPMG – To Follow

Page 13

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 15

Cumbria
Local
Government
Reorganisation
Case for Change

December 2020

Cumbria local government reorganisation – full proposal

Contents page
Contents

Page 16

1

Executive summary

2

2

Purpose and approach

10

3

Vision and principles for local government
reorganisation

15

4

Challenges and opportunities

18

5

The case for a two unitary model

23

6

The case for East Cumbria and West Cumbria

56

7

Implementing local government reorganisation

71

8

Appendices

80

Blea Tarn, South Lakeland
1

Executive
summary
Page 17
2

Carlisle City Centre

Executive summary

Purpose of this report
This document is a Full Proposal recommending a two unitary model of local government reorganisation in Cumbria in response to the
invitation dated 9th October 2020. This proposal has been developed in partnership between the four District, City and Borough
Councils of north Cumbria and is submitted by Allerdale Borough Council and Copeland Borough Council.
Objectives of this report
The key objectives of this Full Proposal are to:

Page 18

• Demonstrate the case for a two unitary
system of local government in Cumbria as
supported by Allerdale Borough Council,
Carlisle City Council Copeland Borough
Council and Eden District Council
• Describe the process undertaken to develop
this proposal
• Clearly communicate the model of local
government being proposed by Allerdale
Borough Council and Copeland Borough
Council
• Detail the benefits associated with the
proposed model

This proposal has been developed in partnership between the four District, City
and Borough Councils of north Cumbria (Allerdale Borough Council, Carlisle City
Council, Copeland Borough Council and Eden District Council) all of whom
strongly support a two unitary approach to local government reorganisation in
Cumbria.
The four councils have submitted two proposals between them reflecting the best
of the options evaluated and on which they will further engage the public to gather
their views. They believe residents, businesses and stakeholders should have the
opportunity to make an informed decision between all viable options.
An East & West and a North & South model have therefore been submitted which
represent the best two options for unitary structures across the whole of Cumbria.
The proposals detail the clear strength of a two unitary approach to local
government and provide the arguments that support each model to be considered
through formal and appropriate public consultation.

• Set out high level considerations around how
the proposed model could be implemented.
3

Our vision for local government in Cumbria
We will promote Cumbria with strong and fair representation for our communities and
businesses. Our services will drive sustainable economic growth, enable safe and
healthy lives and deliver value for money for everyone.

How we will achieve it
Page 19

• Two unitaries providing local representation,
responsibility and accountability as part of a strong
Cumbria Combined Authority
• Local, responsive, accessible services, integrating
planning and service delivery
• Strengthening our economy to lead the UK
towards a greener and more prosperous future
• Delivering high quality services efficiently and
delivering value for our residents in collaboration
with our partners
4

Executive summary

Principles for local government reorganisation in Cumbria
We have established principles, aligned with our evaluation criteria, to establish what local government reorganisation must
achieve for Cumbria. It must…

Impact on service delivery

Financial benefits and
sustainability
• Establish financially sustainable, fit for
purpose local government organisations

Page 20

• Maintain, reflect and strengthen local
community identity

• Unlock efficiencies that can be
reinvested in services to boost quality

• Integrate local services around the
needs and expectations of residents and
businesses

• Develop greater self sufficiency through
income generation and leveraging scale
and buying power

Democratic representation
• Provide communities with strong local
representation co-designed, run in
partnership and delivered at a local level
• Drive strategic leadership through a
Combined Authority
• Reflect, support and develop functional
economic geographies in the county

• Be agile and flexible to drive continuous
service improvement
• Understand and reflect the challenges of
rurality and level up services that
everyone can rely on

Growth

• Minimise disruption and the impact of
reorganisation on residents

• Enable sustainable, inclusive economic
development and encourage business
investment in the local economy

• Strengthen and grow strong local
partnerships across public services, with
business and with the third sector

• Represent Cumbria on the national
stage through a strong leader and a
single clear voice to attract investment
• Provide access to funding and increase
the prosperity and wellbeing of
businesses and communities

Support

• Attract the support of the people and
communities of Cumbria
• Reflect how the people of Cumbria
identify with place

5

Executive summary

The case for a two unitary model
A two unitary model for local government reorganisation in Cumbria represents the right balance between scale and efficiency
and local knowledge, understanding and delivery. Two unitaries will…

For people, place and the economy

For services and the organisations

• maintain and reflect local community
identity

• integrate services around the needs and
expectations of residents and
businesses, utilising local knowledge

Page 21

• provide communities with strong local
representation through smaller,
balanced electorates on which to
develop effective functional relationships
with Town and Parish Councils
• reflect, support and develop functional
economic geographies in the county
• enable sustainable, inclusive economic
development and attract business
investment in the local economy
• provide access to funding and increase
the prosperity and wellbeing of
businesses and communities
• attract the support of the people and
communities of Cumbria and reflect how
they identify with place
• create a strong leader and voice to
attract investment on the national stage

• offer opportunities to focus, target and
improve children’s services
• enable culture change and develop a
customer-first culture of collaboration
• reflect the structures of healthcare
delivery, establishing local, integrated,
all-age services over a viable footprint
• establish financially sustainable, fit for
purpose local government organisations
and unlock efficiencies that can be
reinvested in services to boost quality
• develop greater self sufficiency through
income generation and leveraging scale
and buying power
• drive strategic leadership and
collaborate on strategic issues through a
mayoral Combined Authority

6

Executive summary

East Cumbria and West Cumbria summary
Unitaries built around communities in the East and the West of Cumbria are the best way to achieve the
vision and ambitions for services and growth in Cumbria This page outlines the key arguments supporting
the model and there is further detail and evidence to support each argument in chapter 6.
East and West unitaries will…

Carlisle

• align with the existing road and rail infrastructure
• connect ports infrastructure to air links and across Cumbria
• provide focus to address the clear inequality in digital connectivity across Cumbria

Page 22

Allerdale

• reflect different communities and will provide representation and services to address
local priorities, building on existing outstanding services

Eden

• build upon existing service delivery footprints which demonstrates natural alignment
and will minimise disruption while enabling improvement

Copeland
South
South
Lakeland

• achieve efficiencies and financial sustainability
• build upon existing back office shared services and efficiencies demonstrating natural
alignment in corporate functions
• provide democratic representation by establishing political entities that represent a
culturally coherent population

Barrow

West Cumbria

East Cumbria

Districts

Allerdale,
Carlisle,
Copeland

Barrow, Eden,
South Lakeland

Population

274,622 (55%)

225,390 (45%)

• enable focused development and support for tourism assets
• have strong, balanced economies which are well diversified and provide a strong
footprint to develop and grow
• provide a balanced division of growth projects but will also enable focused
development
• protect, support and strengthen critical national projects including world-leading
nuclear capabilities, carbon reduction and hydrogen fuels

Lancast
er

7

Executive summary

Financial efficiencies
The opportunity for annual efficiencies is estimated at between £19.1m and £31.6m subject to the decisions and ambitions of the
future unitaries though there are opportunities for significant additional savings through wider transformation. Implementation
costs are expected to range between £17.6m and £23.8m and we expect these to be paid back through savings in year 3
following the vesting of the new unitaries.
Existing cost
base
assessed

Efficiencies
Base

Stretch

Percentage of
existing cost
base

Page 23

Category

Description

Workforce

Number of full time employees including management

104.9

11.5

16.8

11% - 16%

Cultural Activities

Culture and heritage, recreation and sports inc. tourism and parks

18.5

1.1

2.3

6% - 12%

Planning & Related

Development applications and decisions

13.5

1.3

2.8

10% - 21%

Environmental & regulatory

Regulatory, bereavement, community safety, flood defence and
drainage

11.7

0.4

2.0

3% - 17%

Waste

Waste collection and disposal

48.0

1.9

3.5

4% - 7%

Housing services

Housing benefits, homelessness and other welfare

6.9

0.4

1.1

6% - 16%

Systems

Software and technology requirements

10.3

1.1

1.6

11% - 16%

Office Space

Ability to centralise services in fit for purpose office space

1.2

0.3

0.3

23% - 25%

Democratic arrangements

Democratic process and number of members

1.9

1.0

1.2

53% - 63%

217.0

19.1

31.6

7% - 11%

Services

Total (£m)

8

Executive summary

Implementing local government reorganisation
Detailed implementation planning will be fundamental to successful local government reorganisation. Activities and milestones are
considered against four high level phases, which are explained below.
Phase 1:
Pre-planning

Page 24

Prior to the delivery of
Local Government
Reorganisation, there
will be a need for
cooperation and
consensus building
between key
stakeholders across
central and local
government. Within
Cumbria there will
likely be competing
bids for the structure
of local authorities,
and as such the
Secretary of State will
form a conclusion
based on consultation
with all parties
involved.

Phase 2:
Joint committees

Phase 3:
Shadow authorities

Phase 4:
Combined and Unitary
authorities

Design and more detailed
planning work commences
from the moment that the
Secretary of State makes a
decision on the future
structure of local
government in Cumbria.

In line with other Local
Government Reorganisation
processes, the District authorities
expect shadow authorities to be in
place one year prior to the vesting
date.

At the point that new authorities
formally come into existence, greater
focus can be placed on the long term
strategy for the future authorities.

Activities begin to focus on
the establishment of the
unitary authorities, but with
coordination required
across all seven current
authorities.

While the process is separate,
implementing a Combined Authority
at the same time as unitaries are
vested will reduce the
implementation time and cost and
provide greater clarity to the public.

9

Purpose and
approach
Page 25
10

Wasdale, Copeland

Purpose and approach

Purpose of this report
This document is a Full Proposal recommending a two unitary model of local government reorganisation in Cumbria in response to the
invitation dated 9th October 2020. This proposal has been developed in partnership between the four District, City and Borough
Councils of north Cumbria and is submitted by Allerdale Borough Council and Copeland Borough Council.
Objectives of this report
The key objectives of this Full Proposal are to:

Page 26

• Demonstrate the case for a two unitary
system of local government in Cumbria as
supported by Allerdale Borough Council,
Carlisle City Council Copeland Borough
Council and Eden District Council
• Describe the process undertaken to develop
this proposal
• Clearly communicate the model of local
government being proposed by Allerdale
Borough Council and Copeland Borough
Council
• Detail the benefits associated with the
proposed model

This proposal has been developed in partnership between the four District, City
and Borough Councils of north Cumbria (Allerdale Borough Council, Carlisle City
Council, Copeland Borough Council and Eden District Council) all of whom
strongly support a two unitary approach to local government reorganisation in
Cumbria.
The four councils have submitted two proposals between them reflecting the best
of the options evaluated and on which they will further engage the public to gather
their views. They believe residents, businesses and stakeholders should have the
opportunity to make an informed decision between all viable options.
An East & West and a North & South model have therefore been submitted which
represent the best two options for unitary structures across the whole of Cumbria.
The proposals detail the clear strength of a two unitary approach to local
government and provide the arguments that support each model to be considered
through formal and appropriate public consultation.

• Set out high level considerations around how
the proposed model could be implemented.
11

Purpose and approach

Approach to developing the Case for Change
This document has been prepared through extensive research, analysis of public information, tailored information requests, financial
modelling and stakeholder engagement.

Desktop research and baselining

Page 27

All work has been informed by desktop research and analysis.
Publicly available data and information has been used, alongside
additional information from the District, City and Borough Councils.
Sources of information and data are set out in Appendix B.

Stakeholder engagement
Understanding of the baseline information has been supplemented
through engagement with Senior Officers and Councillors across the
District, City and Borough Councils. Interviews have been held with
Chief Executives and Council Leaders at each of the District, City
and Borough Councils and with the Chief Executive of Cumbria
County Council.

Commerce, education providers, Cumbria Association of Local
Councils (CALC); and internally, cross-party working groups, full
Council briefings and engagement through Overview and Scrutiny
committees. Action with Communities in Cumbria were
commissioned to engage with the community and voluntary sectors
and received over 500 responses.
Throughout the process the Councils have engaged with businesses
and external partners to gather insight, views and supporting
information.

Virtual workshops have been held, attended by over 25 Leaders,
Deputy Leaders, Members, Chief Executives and Senior Officers
from across the District, City and Borough Councils.
The Councils have adopted a range of stakeholder engagement
events including discussions with local business, Chamber of

12

Purpose and approach

The evaluation criteria
In assessing the options for local government reorganisation in Cumbria we established five criteria that any successful model would
need to achieve.

Page 28

In assessing the options
for local government
reorganisation in Cumbria
we established five
criteria that any
successful model would
need to achieve.
These incorporate the
criteria outlined in the
invitation for proposals
but also reflect the
drivers, priorities and local
circumstances of Cumbria
through the process.
There are five main
evaluation criteria.

Evaluation criteria
Impact on service delivery

Financial benefits and sustainability

What LGR needs to achieve for Cumbria
Providing integrated, effective and efficient services
that enable people to lead healthy, happy and
prosperous lives. Balancing disruption with service
improvements and providing capacity and resilience
for services.
Developing long term sustainability by generating
efficiencies, limiting costs and complexity and
establishing a strong financial baseline.

Democratic representation

Representing people and communities effectively at
all levels by reflecting local identity, place and
functional economic geography.

Growth

Promoting Cumbria to attract investment, enable
inclusive and sustainable development and increase
prosperity and wellbeing.

Support

Supported by the people and communities of
Cumbria and reflecting how they see their place.

13

Purpose and approach

The evaluation criteria
To evaluate potential options in detail we developed subcriteria against each main criteria. These were weighted where 5 is critical to
any future unitary model and 1 is less important.

Impact on service delivery

Weighting

Page 29

Service improvement

5

Geography for service delivery

5

Minimal service disruption

4

Manageable demographics and
demand

4

Partnership working

3

Capacity and resilience

4

Growth

Weighting

Financial benefits and sustainability

Weighting

Long term financial sustainability

5

Costs and complexity of reorganisation

3

Council tax equalisation

3

Income potential

4

Reserves, assets and liabilities

4

Democratic representation

Weighting

Effective local representation

5

Economic growth potential

5

Identity

4

Sustainable economic development

5

Functional economic geography

3

Inclusive economic growth, social
mobility and levelling up

5

Representation in future Combined
Authority

2

Unlocking investment

5
14

Housing development provision

4

Support

Page 30

Vision and
principles for
local
government
reorganisation

15

The Candlestick Chimney, Whitehaven, Copeland

Our vision for local government in Cumbria
We will promote Cumbria with strong and fair representation for our communities and
businesses. Our services will drive sustainable economic growth, enable safe and
healthy lives and deliver value for money for everyone.

How we will achieve it
Page 31

• Two unitaries providing local representation,
responsibility and accountability as part of a strong
Cumbria Combined Authority
• Local, responsive, accessible services, integrating
planning and service delivery
• Strengthening our economy to lead the UK
towards a greener and more prosperous future
• Delivering high quality services efficiently and
delivering value for our residents in collaboration
with our partners
16

Vision and principles for local government reorganisation

Principles for local government reorganisation in Cumbria
We have established principles, aligned with our evaluation criteria, to establish what local government reorganisation must
achieve for Cumbria. It must…

Impact on service delivery

Financial benefits and
sustainability
• Establish financially sustainable, fit for
purpose local government organisations

Page 32

• Maintain, reflect and strengthen local
community identity

• Unlock efficiencies that can be
reinvested in services to boost quality

• Integrate local services around the
needs and expectations of residents and
businesses

• Develop greater self sufficiency through
income generation and leveraging scale
and buying power

Democratic representation
• Provide communities with strong local
representation co-designed, run in
partnership and delivered at a local level
• Drive strategic leadership through a
Combined Authority
• Reflect, support and develop functional
economic geographies in the county

• Be agile and flexible to drive continuous
service improvement
• Understand and reflect the challenges of
rurality and level up services that
everyone can rely on

Growth

• Minimise disruption and the impact of
reorganisation on residents

• Enable sustainable, inclusive economic
development and encourage business
investment in the local economy

• Strengthen and grow strong local
partnerships across public services, with
business and with the third sector

• Represent Cumbria on the national
stage through a strong leader and a
single clear voice to attract investment
• Provide access to funding and increase
the prosperity and wellbeing of
businesses and communities

Support

• Attract the support of the people and
communities of Cumbria
• Reflect how the people of Cumbria
identify with place

17

Challenges and
opportunities
Page 33
18

Fleswick Bay, Copeland

Challenges and opportunities

Challenges for Cumbria
Cumbria faces a number of local challenges and issues while managing the national issues of devolution and EU Exit and the
international challenges posed by COVID-19 and climate change.

Page 34

In addition to national issues such as COVID-19, forthcoming white papers on devolution
and planning, EU Exit and other changes in legislation, health and social care
integration, climate change and digitisation, Cumbria faces some specific challenges
including:
Large, rural and sparsely populated - Cumbria is the second largest county in the
country but has a small and mostly rural population which means delivering high quality
services fairly across the whole area is challenging e.g. children’s services.
Shrinking and ageing population - The population is older than the national average
and is expected to shrink which presents a challenge regarding education and skills,
economic growth and adult social care.1
Infrastructure – there is a lack of modern physical infrastructure including road, rail and
air as well as inconsistent digital infrastructure.
Financial sustainability - Local government nationally is under significant financial
pressure. Prior to COVID-19 the Councils in Cumbria required savings of £16.8m in
2020/21 on top of savings made since 2011.2
Blea Tarn, South Lakeland

1.
2.

ONS population estimates
Medium Term Financial Plans of the seven councils

Inequalities- There are pockets of significant deprivation and significant variations in life
expectancy, housing, connectivity, education and other key life factors across the county.
Economic diversity - There is significant reliance on tourism and the nuclear industry
which are strengths of the area but pose challenges regarding economic resilience.

19

Challenges and opportunities

Scale and infrastructure
Cumbria covers 676k hectares which is larger than Essex, Greater
London and Hertfordshire combined

Fig. 1 Cumbria – to scale1

The images below show that Cumbria is over 1% larger than Essex, Greater
London and Hertfordshire combined. In addition the geography and
infrastructure largely operates as a doughnut around the Lake District National
Park and the Scafell Massif in the centre of the county and 86% of the total
road length in Cumbria consists of minor roads.2
Fig. 1 Essex, Greater London and Hertfordshire – to scale1

Page 35
1. Google MyMaps
2. https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/road-length-statistics-rdl

20

Challenges and opportunities

Key opportunities for Cumbria
Cumbria has significant strengths and opportunities to grow and develop, from the existing strong tourism industry to nuclear and
renewables assets that can enable it to lead the UK towards net zero ambitions.

Cumbria has significant assets and opportunities to develop and grow which include:
• The opportunity to establish an elected mayor to promote the region and give a clear voice for the
people and economy of Cumbria through devolution and a Combined Authority.

Page 36

• Cumbria is a Centre of Nuclear Excellence: a world leader in nuclear waste and
decommissioning, decarbonising heat, power and transport, and driving clean growth as we head
towards Net Zero by 2050. Through the Barrow shipyard we are also at the core of the UK’s defence
industries and nuclear deterrent.
• Cumbria has significant assets for renewable energy including a large coastline and wide open
spaces which can support the UK’s clean energy agenda and net zero ambitions, for instance
through Offshore Wind Leasing.

Carlisle Courts

• Cumbria is home to a wealth of natural assets including the Lake District world heritage site, three
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, parts of the Yorkshire Dales National Park and the Cumbria
Coast Marine Conservation Zone. These cultural landscapes and their biodiversity supports tourism
which brings over 47 million people and £3.1bn to the local and national economy every year.1
• Cumbria makes a significant contribution to national rural economy with the commitment to
innovate and the use of new technologies to support food self sufficiency and wider national
agricultural policy.
• Cumbria has good connections and a high quality of life so is well placed to benefit and grow from
changes to working practices resulting from COVID-19.
1. Cumbria Tourism (https://www.cumbriatourism.org/what-we-do/awards/)

21

Challenges and opportunities

The case for local government reorganisation
Local government reorganisation presents an opportunity to deliver better services to residents, more efficiently and will bring clarity to
local government. It will enable stronger leadership for Cumbria and enable devolution to attract investment, strengthen the economy
and level up the region.
The key benefits associated with a move to unitary local
government are:

Page 37

• Stronger voice to central government - Unitary government
will give a strong voice for the region on local, regional, national
and international stages.
• Unlocking devolution – Local Government Reorganisation will
enable a devolution deal with a possible mayoral Combined
Authority becoming carbon negative while creating jobs,
promoting growth and ‘levelling up’ across the region.
• More efficient governance – appropriately scaled unitary
authorities are more efficient than the two-tier system which
creates duplication, political paralysis and overhead costs for
residents which reduces the value for money that the people of
Cumbria expect.
• Scale in service delivery – More efficient delivery will enable
greater organisational sustainability to enable services to be
resilient, efficient and improved. Many services delivered by the
Districts are outstanding and can be used to improve other key
services that are not at the standard communities deserve.

• Integrating planning and delivery – the two-tier system
separates planning from delivery which weakens the
effectiveness of economic development. This also prevents
joined up services e.g. separating delivery of children’s services
from services that support children, such as leisure and cultural
services.
• Clarity in democratic representation – The two-tier system
creates confusion regarding the role of District and County
Councils. A unitary structure provides a single organisation to
contact regarding residents’ local area.

This proposal assumes that local government reorganisation will
take place in Cumbria, and focusses on the opportunities that it
presents for the people and organisations of the county.

22

Page 38

The case for a
two unitary
model

23

Millom, Copeland

The case for a two unitary model

Summary of the case for a two unitary model
A two unitary model for local government reorganisation in Cumbria represents the right balance between scale and efficiency
and local knowledge, understanding and delivery. Two unitaries will…

For people, place and the economy

For services and the organisations

• maintain and reflect local community
identity

• integrate services around the needs and
expectations of residents and
businesses, utilising local knowledge.

Page 39

• provide communities with strong local
representation through smaller,
balanced electorates on which to
develop effective functional relationships
with Town and Parish Councils.
• reflect, support and develop functional
economic geographies in the county.
• enable sustainable, inclusive economic
development and attract business
investment in the local economy.
• provide access to funding and increase
the prosperity and wellbeing of
businesses and communities.
• attract the support of the people and
communities of Cumbria and reflect how
they identify with place.
• create a strong leader and voice to
attract investment on the national stage.

• offer opportunities to focus, target and
improve children’s services.
• enable culture change and develop a
customer-first culture of collaboration
• reflect the structures of healthcare
delivery, establishing local, integrated,
all-age services over a viable footprint
• establish financially sustainable, fit for
purpose local government organisations
and unlock efficiencies that can be
reinvested in services to boost quality
• develop greater self sufficiency through
income generation and leveraging scale
and buying power.
• drive strategic leadership and
collaborate on strategic issues through a
mayoral Combined Authority

24

The case for a two unitary model

The case for a two unitary model
A two unitary model is the most practical approach to supporting Cumbria, balancing population needs, size and efficiencies of scale
with local geography, infrastructure and culture. Cumbria is a large, sparsely populated county

Page 40

Two unitaries provide the right balance
of population size and economies of
scale with the practicalities of Cumbrian
geography, culture, society and
economy. Cumbria is too large to enable
a single authority to be efficient and
effective but the population is too small
for three authorities to be efficient. Two
unitaries will enable us to meet and
exceed the expectations of our
communities, particularly through postCovid recovery.
This section outlines how a two unitary
model will achieve the best outcomes for
Cumbria, structured by our evaluation
criteria of:

Impact on service delivery

Financial benefits and
sustainability

Providing integrated, effective and efficient services
that enable people to lead healthy, happy and
prosperous lives. Balancing disruption with service
improvements and providing capacity and resilience
for services.
Developing long term sustainability by generating
efficiencies, limiting costs and complexity and
establishing a strong financial baseline.

Democratic representation

Representing people and communities effectively at
all levels by reflecting local identity, place and
functional economic geography.

Growth

Promoting Cumbria to attract investment, enable
inclusive and sustainable development and increase
prosperity and wellbeing

Support

Supported by the people and communities of
Cumbria and reflecting how they see their place

25

Impact on
service
delivery
Page 41
26

The case for a two unitary model - Impact on service delivery

The right structures for the population and geography
Two unitaries will enable more local service delivery over a practical area with efficient and effective integration at scale but
maintaining local delivery.

Page 42

Cumbria has over 500k people but they are
spread over 676k hectares of the second
largest county in England. This low
population density makes efficient service
delivery complex and requires locality
arrangements which add another tier to how
local government operates.
Different services require different footprints to
be efficient and effective but the geography and
infrastructure of Cumbria prevents services
operating across the county. Services are
currently delivered by varied locality structures or
the six District, City and Borough Councils.
A two unitary model enables more local service
delivery over a more practical area and enables
consolidation of locality arrangements into more
integrated, efficient and consistent forms of
service delivery.

Fig. 2 Population Population per sq
Density
km
Allerdale
78.70
Barrow
860.74
Carlisle
104.75
Copeland
93.18
Eden
24.86
South Lakeland
68.44

Carlisle

Carlisle

Penrith

Workington
Allerdale

Eden

Whitehaven

Copeland

Kendal
South
Lakeland

Barrow-in-Furness
1. ONS population estimates

Barrow

Lancast
er

27

The case for a two unitary model - Impact on service delivery

Enabling local, integrated services
Two unitaries will maintain and reflect local community identity and integrate services around the needs and expectations of residents
and businesses. They will be agile and flexible to drive continuous service improvement and understand and reflect the challenges of
rurality, levelling up services that everyone can rely on.
Many services are not currently managed close to the residents who receive
them, particularly in rural areas. This lack of subsidiarity prevents services
reflecting local need which makes them less responsive and less efficient.

Fig. 3 Carlisle to
Barrow travel
times1
A69

Page 43

A two unitary model for local government reorganisation will enable services to be
more local, agile and responsive to their communities. By reflecting place and
particularly rurality and sparsity, services can be designed to be more efficient and
more effective.
One of the key benefits of unitary government is to integrate services, for example
children’s services with many of the District services that enable safe, healthy
childhoods, such as housing and leisure. This approach enables planning to be
more effective and services to work in harmony provided integration is sufficiently
local.
Existing District services are often excellent, trusted by residents and embedded
in local communities to be agile to respond when they need to change. This
approach should be maintained in unitary organisations.
Strategic functions such as strategic planning and economic development would
function effectively in a pan-Cumbria Combined Authority but frontline services
need to be embedded in their communities to deliver place-based policy and
practice.

By train: 2 hr 30m

A595
M6
A66
A66
A66
A591
A66
M6

A6
A595

A590

A65

M6

1. Google maps

By car: 1 hour 42m

M6

28

The case for a two unitary model - Impact on service delivery

Enabling local, integrated services
The district-wide picture of housing delivery masks
weaknesses in local delivery and inequalities in provision.

Page 44

All Districts in Cumbria have significantly exceeded their housing
target. However the distribution of this growth is unbalanced,
favouring towns and villages in high value areas. For example, in
Allerdale over 80% of recent housing growth has taken place in just
three towns. Coastal and rural communities in particular have few
opportunities to secure housing to meet their needs and future
sustainability. Two unitaries will strengthen effective place making
by bringing together spatial planning, housing, economic growth and
infrastructure delivery while strengthening the ability to access
funding from Homes England and for infrastructure projects to
unlock housing projects across all communities.

achieve more focused and efficient use of adult education budgets.
Two unitaries will provide tailored support to local colleges regarding
their part of the skills plan to enable young people in Cumbria to
achieve the skills they need.

Two unitaries will integrate waste services on a footprint that
enables efficient delivery.
Two unitaries enables scale and efficiency through the integration of
District services retaining the local knowledge of District teams.
Waste services will be integrated under a Joint Waste Authority for
management but maintaining delivery units which fit with the
existing routes and operations including the two waste disposal
facilities in Cumbria. This strategic oversight will enable waste
services to deliver changes to help combat climate change.

Two unitaries will support the local focus of the education
system in Cumbria while enabling regional planning.
There are five further education colleges in Cumbria (Carlisle
College, Furness College, Newton Rigg, Kendal College and Lakes
College) as well as the University of Cumbria. Each cater to their
local area and specialities, including the distinct campuses of the
university, reflecting the challenges of travelling across Cumbria.
They are partially in competition with each other and a regional
skills and productivity plan under a Combined Authority will enable
them to work together as part of a complementary system and
1. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-delivery-test-2019-measurement

Two unitaries with a Combined Authority provides the right
balance of local knowledge with strategic planning.
Transport and infrastructure is a key concern for local people. A
functioning transport system requires strategic planning regarding
travel flows and connections, supported by local delivery to ensure
roads are fit for purpose. A Combined Authority working across two
unitaries will provide that balance to ensure potholes are fixed while
implementing strategic infrastructure upgrades.
29

The case for a two unitary model - Impact on service delivery

Improving children’s social care
Two unitaries will offer opportunities to focus, target and improve children’s services. Children’s social care services are a critical factor
when considering models of local government and require improvement in Cumbria. They support a large number of children over a large
area and a two unitary model offers opportunities to improve outcomes for those children.

Key statistics

Page 45

Last OFSTED inspection:
Requires improvement
(November 2017)
Number of children : 112,000
Spend per child: £3,522.32
Children in low income
families:12% against England
average of 17%
Number of children starting to
be looked after: 24 per 10,000
against England average of
33

Children’s services operate across a spectrum, including universal services such as education, they
include targeted/early help services and children who are in need of help and protection (social care).
Social care services exist to promote the wellbeing of, and protect the most vulnerable, people in our
populations. They are dependent on a wide range of quality services delivered by the Local Authority
(such as housing, leisure, economic regeneration) and those offered by partners (Community and
Voluntary Sector, transport links, health services etc.).
They are regulated services, both in terms of overall approach and individual provision. Some
provision is delivered and managed by the Local Authorities and other provision is commissioned from
other providers (including other Local Authorities, where required).
Although it is for individual local authorities to determine their own organisational structures, reflecting
local circumstances, each service must have a Director of Children’s Services (DCS) and a Lead
Member for Children (LMCS). The DCS is appointed for the purposes of discharging education and
children’s social services functions and should report directly to the Chief Executive.

Vacancy rate: 8.7% against
England average of 16.4%
Caseload: 17.7 children per
FTE against England average
of 16.9
1. Children looked after in England including adoption: 2018 to 2019

30

The case for a two unitary model - Impact on service delivery

Improving children’s social care

Page 46

Cumbria’s children’s services require improvement, although
progress to improve is underway.

Children’s services in Cumbria are large, both in terms of
caseload and the geography that they need to cover.

At the last OFSTED inspection, Cumbria’s children’s services
required improvement. There was a focused visit in 2019 which
identified that some improvements had been made in the
understanding and insight of leadership and through strengthened
arrangements for managing referrals and contacts. Unfortunately
progress had not been made regarding young people experiencing
homelessness and the visit identified an issue with workforce
stability and recruitment. This is despite Cumbria having a lower
proportion of children in low income families, staff vacancies and
children starting to be looked after than the average in England.

At March 2019 Cumbria looked after 683 children, in the top quarter
of caseloads in England and caseloads per social worker are higher
than the national average.1 If managed through a two unitary model
caseloads for both unitaries would be, on average, in the middle
third of authorities and spread over a small area, enabling more
focused care and support. Children’s services are run on a locality
model so the disruption to frontline staff and the children receiving
services would be minimised. In the short term there will be some
disruption to staff through any form of organisational change. A
rigorous approach to implementation should ensure that appropriate
arrangements and oversight are established to ensure that this does
not impact on children.

The current system does not enable collaborative working and
creates a number of disruptive transition points between services
and organisations in children’s lives.

31

The case for a two unitary model - Impact on service delivery

Improving children’s social care

Page 47

A two unitary system will provide culture and system change
that will protect children.

District services bring important local intelligence and support
as part of a stronger, integrated service offering.

Improvement has been slow in children’s services and will be put
further at risk due to financial pressures on councils which will put
services at risk. A two unitary model will provide an opportunity to
reset the leadership and culture of the services. The change will
enable new unitaries to establish governance with the appropriate
balance between leadership skills and professionalisms and a more
flexible collaborative approach. It will also enable a cultural reset to
embed a compassionate approach and a vision for children’s
services. This will be critical through the medium term financial
pressures that COVID-19 will create to ensure that budget
pressures do not put services for children at risk.

The work of children’s social care is supported by a wide range of
universal services including education, leisure and public health.
District Councils have a deep understanding of their local area
through housing and community services which can be used as part
of an integrated service to improve how children’s social care is
delivered. This includes preventative work through leisure services
but also creates opportunities for identifying issues and early help.
Districts also play a key role with supporting services and in chairing
Children and Family Locality Partnerships. They are embedded in
multi-agency working in the local community. Two unitaries
maintains that local knowledge while integrating all services that
wrap around a child, young person and their family networks.

Case study: Local Focus Hubs
Local Focus Hubs are multidisciplinary teams, chaired by Districts, working across partner organisations including police, fire, probation,
social housing and third sector. They act as the Tactical Delivery Groups for the West Cumbria Community Safety Partnership (CSP),
taking direction and actions set by the Strategic Group whilst also advising the it on community priorities and links.
Their aims are to promote partnership working to prevent anti-social behaviour, crime and disorder, engage with local communities to
proactively identify problem areas and tackle issues having a detrimental effect on the quality of life of the local community.
Local Focus Hubs are a good example of close collaborative working between organisations and demonstrate the deep local connection
and expertise that District Councils bring as part of service delivery.
32

The case for a two unitary model - Impact on service delivery

Improving children’s social care
Two unitaries represents a partial
consolidation of children’s services enabling
greater strategic focus and capacity.

Page 48

Social care is currently managed on a locality
footprint in the north, west and south of the
County and some is supported by Districts.
Therefore delivering services from a two unitary
footprint represents an opportunity to
consolidate geographic services (universal,
targeted and social care) as well as integration
of services and tiers of government.
It will also enable greater strategic capacity by
giving each DCS a smaller population to focus
on and increase the scope for early intervention
and prevention work.

Case study: The National Centre for Remote and Rural Medicine (NCRRM)
NCRRM is an education provider specialising in training medics and healthcare
professionals working in locations that may be isolated from additional medical
support.
The Centre is in Whitehaven and is part of the University of Central Lancashire but
attracts students internationally. Rural and remote healthcare poses clear challenges
related to accessibility and limited clinical diagnostic support, but it is often
exacerbated by less obvious inequalities: such as employment shortages in primary
and secondary healthcare service, lack of investment in infrastructure and poor
connectivity, all of which may impair the provision of healthcare and the quality of
patient care.
The Centre seeks ways to help offset these inequalities to help achieve better
outcomes for both staff and patients in rural and remote communities. NCRRM is
not just an educational provider but also involved in research projects and is helping
to guide policy around remote and rural healthcare.

What this could mean for social work
To increase recruitment and retention a similar Academy of Family could be set up for social work, specialising in a whole family
approach to supporting children. By working in partnership future unitaries could establish pathways into social care in Cumbria through
education and support social workers with accommodation and schemes to retain their skills and expertise in the area.
This would provide resilience in the care system such as strengthening fostering and adoption capacity which would reduce the
significant costs of out-of-area placements.
Further support could be provided such as extending the Districts guaranteed interview scheme for NHS professionals moving to
Cumbria.
33

The case for a two unitary model - Impact on service delivery

Improving children’s social care
The forthcoming White Paper and the impact of COVID-19 will
change the landscape for children’s services.

Page 49

A White Paper on health and social care integration is expected in
2021 which may require a review of governance and services. This
will come on top of significant pressure on services caused by
COVID-19. A new model for childrens services, designed after those
developments, will enable services to reflect and recover from those
changes and provide place-based leadership for the next phase of
health and social care integration.

Alternative delivery models could operate across the unitaries
subject to the decisions of the organisations
While the organisational structure will be a decision for the unitary
councils, there is an option for children’s services to be delivered
under a Trust or a host authority model. A Trust could provide a
singular focus on children which could support driving improvement.
However, dependent on the scope of the services to be included in
a new arrangement, this could risk disconnects with universal
services, early help and transitions to adult services. There are cost
and governance implications to changing organisational form. The
decision regarding the best governance model to improve service
for children should be made with appropriate consultation with the
Department for Education and Department of Health and Social
Care.

34

The case for a two unitary model - Impact on service delivery

Adult social care and healthcare
Two unitaries will reflect the structures of healthcare delivery, establishing local, integrated, all-age services over a viable footprint.
Healthcare is delivered through two footprints which cross County and District boundaries, reflecting the challenges of a pan-Cumbria
service approach.

Key statistics

Page 50

Gross expenditure on adult
social care: £178,651k
Adults (18-64) accessing long
term support during the year:
2,550
Older adults (65+) accessing
long term support during the
year: 5,400
North Cumbria Health and
Care System, Lancashire and
South Cumbria Sustainability
and Transformation
Partnership

Healthcare is delivered on two different
footprints reflecting local needs and
differences.

Fig. 4 Health geography

The healthcare geography of Cumbria is split
between the North Cumbria Health and Care
System and the Lancashire and South Cumbria
Integrated Care System though these do not follow
District boundaries. This reflects the complex nature
of Cumbria’s service delivery landscape and
reinforces the need for two organisations to provide
appropriate coverage. In addition, recently
announced changes to ICS responsibilities and
CCG structures bring an opportunity to align to new
unitary structures.Any unitary will therefore require
relationships with two health systems. Both
unitaries will retain their relationship with the North
West Ambulance Service which operates across the
region.
North Cumbria Health and Care System
Lancashire and South Cumbria Sustainability
and Transformation Partnership

35

The case for a two unitary model - Impact on service delivery

Adult social care and healthcare
Universal services and vibrant communities can support
people to live independently.

Page 51

As two unitaries will be closer to the communities, culture,
demographics and geography of their population they will be better
able to stimulate community support and to provide services that
promote resilience and independence for older adults. This will
reduce some pressure on adult social care as well as promoting the
wellbeing and quality of life of residents. Two unitaries will also
provide more targeted commissioning arrangements for vulnerable
adults and people with learning disabilities enabling services tailored
to local needs and facilities.

Two unitaries will integrate services where people need them.
Integrating services that support adults will enable consistent
support by understanding where systems overlap. Supported living
allocations are made by the County but not integrated with the
statutory housing, revenue and benefits functions that Districts
deliver. Under two unitaries these will be integrated and embedded
in the local community, supported by strong partnership working.
There will also be opportunities to integrate environmental health,
public health and the wider health and care system to provide an
integrated and efficient range of services.

Case study: Home Improvement Agencies
There are clear links between children’s and adult’s provision
and support. Therefore, having two common footprints for
children’s and adult’s services is an advantage.
Adults’ and children’s services operating in a two unitary footprint
will be able to support young people who are vulnerable (including
those who have been safeguarded) or have disabilities as they
progress into adulthood. An all-age and ‘Think Family’ approach to
core services will be appropriately tailored to enable seamless
support at all ages, with well managed transitions.
These opportunities should be seen in the context of the expected
White Paper on health and social care integration which may
require a more fundamental review of services and governance.

Unitaries could establish Home Improvement Agencies to operate
across each unitary, in a way that is not possible on the current
Cumbria footprint.
These agencies would provide support to enable people to move
from acute healthcare into social care. This may entail
maintaining, adapting and improving their homes or providing
support with planning and applications regarding grants.
Such support would enable more people to live independently and
ease pressure on the NHS both through new admissions and by
enabling more effective transfers of care.

36

Page 52

Financial
benefits and
sustainability

Carlisle Courts
37

The case for a two unitary model - Financial benefits and sustainability

Significant long term financial efficiencies
Two unitaries will establish financially sustainable, fit for purpose local government organisations and unlock efficiencies that can be
reinvested in services to boost quality

We calculate that a two unitary model would
generate savings of between £19.1m and £31.6m
per year through reorganisation alone.

Page 53

While the specific savings achieved will be subject
to the ambition and decisions of the new unitaries,
our modelling indicates that substantial savings can
be achieved through moving to a two unitary model.
These efficiencies sit alongside the quality
improvements referred to in the previous chapter.

Two unitaries would realise savings more
quickly than less transformative approaches
A two unitary model will enable savings to be
realised quickly as unitaries will have a clear break
from previous authorities. This enables them to
make decisions free from cultural and systemic
inertia that can develop within authorities.

Fig. 5 Efficiencies (£m per year)

Efficiencies

Category

Base

Stretch

Percentage
of existing cost
base

Workforce

11.5

16.8

11% - 16%

Cultural Activities

1.1

2.3

4% - 10%

Planning & Related

1.3

2.8

10% - 21%

Environmental & regulatory

0.4

2.0

3% - 17%

Waste

1.9

3.5

3% - 6%

Housing services

0.4

1.1

6% - 16%

Systems

1.1

1.6

11% - 16%

Estates; office space

0.3

0.3

23% - 25%

Democratic arrangements

1.0

1.2

53% - 63%

19.1*

31.6

7% - 11%

Services

Total

* Total rounded

38

The case for a two unitary model - Financial benefits and sustainability

Significant long term financial efficiencies
A two unitary model gives far greater potential for change and
transformation to deliver further efficiencies.
Two new unitaries provides an opportunity for transformational change
as they are not tied to the history of a previous entity. This provides the
potential for investment in digital enablement and modern IT systems
that could enable efficiencies that significantly exceed the stretch case
identified.

Potential transformation efficiencies

Page 54

Other areas for further efficiencies include:
• Consolidating third party contracts to a unitary wide approach,
enabling; savings on the internal and external supply chain, and
partnership opportunities across the local public sector.

Stretch reorganisation efficiencies
£31.6m

• Design of a digital services platform to enhance customer experience
and accessibility as well automating simple services and increasing
data integrity.
• Making better use of adult and children social care data to focus
preventative measures, such as public health, targeted promotion of
leisure and well being services

Base reorganisation efficiencies
£18.8m

This summary financial analysis is supported by Appendix B.

39

The case for a two unitary model - Financial benefits and sustainability

Significant long term financial efficiencies
Two unitaries will develop greater self sufficiency through income generation and leveraging scale and buying power as well as two
unitaries providing an opportunity to set a new culture for the organisations.

Two unitary authorities offers significant scale that can enable
efficiencies through buying power.

Page 55

District spend that is currently commissioned six times across
Cumbria can be delivered through two larger contracts enabling
economies of scale, such as in waste management. These
contracts can be designed for the local needs of each unitary while
achieving significant savings across the region.

Two unitaries will have the potential to enhance income
streams to achieve greater self sufficiency.
Through supporting local businesses and attracting inward
investment unitaries will benefit from economic growth through
business rates and council tax. They will have opportunities to
generate further income streams through integrated services and
joined up planning. Establishing modern, fit-for-purpose, digital
organisations may also enable unitaries to generate new income
streams through shared, hosted or traded services with other
organisations.

Two unitaries provide an opportunity to develop new, modern
organisations with a new culture that will enable effective
planning and decision making.
The current local government system in Cumbria is weakened by
the culture within some organisations and the impact that poor
organisational culture and working practices have on relationships
and partnership working. Two new unitaries will not inherit the
cultural and leadership issues of any single previous organisation so
provide an opportunity to establish a new, productive and
constructive culture. This will build on the solutions-focused culture
in District Councils and enable both unitaries to be more efficient
and effective, creating long term sustainability in the local
government structures.

40

Democratic
representation
Page 56
41

The case for a two unitary model - Democratic representation

Strong democratic representation
Two unitaries will provide communities with strong local representation through smaller, balanced electorates on which to develop
effective functional relationships with Town and Parish Councils.

Page 57

Local government reorganisation will reduce the
ratio of elected members to electorate but a two
unitary model retains local representation for our
communities without placing undue pressure on
town and parish councils.
There are currently 84 County Councillors and 246
District Councillors representing an electorate ratio of
1,515 per post in Cumbria. While specific councillor
numbers will be a matter for future councils, Cumbrian
residents will lose a level of local representation
through local government reorganisation.
A two unitary model enables residents to maintain
greater local representation through smaller, balanced
electorates. This will enable them to develop effective
functional relationships with town and parish councils,
where they are in place, providing the right
combination of service delivery and representation.
Whitehaven Marina, Copeland

42

The case for a two unitary model - Democratic representation

Enabling a strong Combined Authority
Two unitaries will drive strategic leadership through a Combined Authority. A future mayoral Combined Authority enables strategic
planning and leadership while two balanced unitaries provide local service delivery, placemaking and community involvement as a
strong basis for inclusive, green growth.
A Combined Authority requires balanced, strong unitary authorities to combine. This dynamic ensures that the democratic
mandate of both authorities is clear and ensures the system is effective, accountable and continues to develop.

Page 58

A mayoral Combined Authority is a clear path to developing Cumbria and a two unitary model is required to provide clarity to residents
regarding the role of unitary and Combined Authorities. Unitary authorities need to be local to deliver services that address the needs and
expectations of residents. A Combined Authority needs to take a strategic perspective so can operate over a wider area. Clearly these roles
cannot both be delivered effectively on the same footprint.
Running two unitary authorities also provides clarity to the electorate regarding the role of a Combined Authority across the unitaries. It will
enable people to understand unitaries as delivering local services and the Combined Authority operating at a strategic level across those
unitaries with a clear role for both.
Key areas that require the strategic approach of a Combined Authority in Cumbria are:
 Strategic transport planning including bus franchising and network subsidy under a Passenger Transport Executive to better meet
transport needs across the region and connect local travel infrastructure with tourism planning
 Integration of police and fire services, emergency planning and the Local Resilience Forum to enable integrated operations
 Strategic spatial planning to coordinate and inform local plans
 Strategic approach to education and skills including a regional productivity and skills plan
 Relationship with the LEP to reset the approach and provide a strategic approach that works for both authorities. This will include focus
on a sustainable agricultural sector and coordination to become a trailblazer for climate change in the UK.
43

The case for a two unitary model - Democratic representation

Supporting identity, towns and rurality
Two unitaries will reflect, support and develop functional economic geographies in the county. This will enable them to better reflect the
individual communities and identities of the region.

Local government reorganisation enables local government to better reflect the communities and identities of the region, rather
than grouping them together.

Page 59

Cumbria is a large county with varied geography, culture and
many different local identities within it. Local government
reorganisation provides an opportunity to establish smaller
authorities that can better reflect how people in the area identify
themselves.
The Cumbria brand has been successful in developing tourism
but it covers over many different local perspectives, historical
differences and socioeconomic divides.
The six largest towns and Carlisle City are in separate Districts
so establishing two unitaries enables them to have a greater
voice and representation in their local government.
There is an opportunity to establish a strong, modern rural
economy as rural areas need a particular approach to reflect
rurality and sparsity, different conceptions of service delivery,
and different rules on planning as reflected in the recent
‘Levelling up our communities report’.1

Keswick market, Allerdale

44
1. Levelling up our communities: proposals for a new social covenant, Danny Kruger MP

Growth
Page 60
45

The case for a two unitary model - Growth

Strong, strategic leadership
Two unitaries will collaborate on strategic issues through a mayoral Combined Authority which will provide a strong leader and single
clear voice to attract investment on the national stage.

Page 61

Mayoral devolution is a key driver for local government
reorganisation in Cumbria. It provides an opportunity to strengthen
and level up the region through new policy and financial powers,
access to funding and an elected mayor to promote the region on
national and international stages.

Fig. 6 Top 100 firms in Cumbria

Devolution provides Cumbria with an opportunity to unlock many of its
economic assets and address inequalities across the county which will
enable green growth, a modern and sustainable rural economy and help
address food security. A two unitary model will ensure that the varied
local economies and assets are appropriately considered and will provide
local intelligence to support investment priorities.
Cumbria has a diverse economy from defence industries in Barrow,
through tourism in the Lakes, Dales and Fells and nuclear excellence on
the west coast to manufacturing in Carlisle and with agriculture prevalent
across much of the area. Two unitary model will ensure that the local
economic profile of each unitary and key industries are appropriately
represented in devolution discussions which will support economic
development nationally as well as for Cumbria.
46
Site of one of the top 100 firms in Cumbria

The case for a two unitary model - Growth

Strong, strategic leadership (continued)
A Combined Authority across a two unitary model in Cumbria will enable clear responsibilities and accountabilities between
organisations. The Combined Authority will be able to develop strategic leadership and plans for transport, education and skills,
sustainable development, employment and housing around a shared vision for the future.

Page 62

Two unitaries supports the
principles of local leadership and
subsidiarity. It will enable local
concerns to be managed by
unitaries with leaders that are close
to the population while enabling
strategic planning and decisionmaking to be made at a Combined
Authority level.
Two strong unitaries, working with a
Combined Authority will provide a
clear delineation of roles and
responsibilities between unitaries
and the Combined Authority. The
model also enables constructive
tension and competition to improve
decision-making, leadership and
funding allocation across Cumbria.
Cockermouth, Allerdale
Photo credit: Tour of Britain/SWPix
47

The case for a two unitary model - Growth

Enabling sustainable, inclusive economic development
A two unitary model of local government enables sustainable, inclusive economic development and will attract business investment in
the local economy.

Page 63

Cumbria experiences significant inequalities and wages are
lower than the national average. A two unitary model of local
government reorganisation will provide greater support and a
stronger voice to more deprived, rural and under invested
communities to support levelling up across Cumbria as well as
the UK.
Economic development in Cumbria needs to be inclusive as the
county includes some of the least and most deprived communities
in the UK. Under a single unitary model there is a risk that
investment, jobs and the benefits they bring will be focused on
existing economic hubs causing greater socioeconomic disparities.
Two balanced unitaries will provide a stronger voice for
underrepresented towns, communities and industries enabling more
balanced growth and addressing some of the fundamental
inequalities that Cumbria faces.
An elected mayor across Cumbria will strengthen those local voices
on a national scale, attracting inward investment and supporting
firms to invest further in Cumbria.

Fig. 7 Median weekly pay
490
480
470
460
450
440
Cumbria

England

UK

Median weekly pay

Proportion of
Fig. 8 Indices of
LSOAs in most
IMD Average Score
Multiple Deprivation
deprived nationally
(10%)
Allerdale
22.94
12%
Barrow
31.12
24%
Carlisle
22.00
6%
Copeland
25.01
6%
Eden
16.33
South Lakeland
12.50
48

1.
2.

ONS, Earnings and hours worked, place of residence by local authority
IMD

The case for a two unitary model - Growth

Enabling sustainable, inclusive economic development (continued)
Cumbria has significant assets to support the UK in achieving
the target of net zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050.
These include natural and renewable energy assets, academic
and agricultural innovation and nuclear capabilities which are
internationally regarded.

Page 64

The Cumbria LEP has a pathway to become the northern ‘Living
Lab’ for clean energy, decarbonising heat, power and transport.
This includes a clean energy park to develop nuclear, hydrogen and
future fuels adjacent to Sellafield and alongside substantial offshore
wind capability. The nuclear and wider energy supply chain
capability is reflected in the Britain’s Energy Coast Business Cluster
(BECBC), a 325-strong member organisation including global
multinationals and local SMEs from public, private, academic and
third sectors.1
Cumbria has large areas of open space which could be further
improved to make significant contributions to biodiversity and
carbon capture at regional and national levels.
A two unitary model of local government, as part of a Combined
Authority will give a strong, strategic voice to these industries as
critical parts of national infrastructure and policy. It will also give
greater access to funding and investment to support the
development of future innovations to support the UK.
Oldside Wind Farm
49
1. Cumbria: Nuclear Prospectus, LEP

The case for a two unitary model - Growth

Enabling sustainable, inclusive economic development (continued)
The two tier system of local government in Cumbria creates inconsistencies, tensions and potential safety implications within
the planning and approvals process. This results in uncertainty for investors and developers and weakens Cumbria’s economic
development.

Page 65

The communities and businesses of Copeland and
Allerdale have been at the centre of national nuclear
and radioactive waste management policy and
operations for over the last 70 years. Throughout
this time the local community and businesses have
generated a wealth of knowledge and intelligence
about the issues and (the national and international)
economic development opportunities associated
with national nuclear policy, about future low carbon
ambitions, the challenges of decommissioning of
legacy nuclear facilities and the management of the
nations’ radioactive waste. Notwithstanding this
local perspective, the Government’s Managing
Radioactive Waste Safely process in 2014 was
brought to a halt, despite support from Copeland
and Allerdale Borough Councils, due to
inconsistency and confusion in the two tier system.
A two unitary system will maintain this local
knowledge, intelligence and support for projects but
reduces the bureaucratic and administrative tension
created by the current system.

Sellafield, Copeland

50
1. Cumbria: Nuclear Prospectus, LEP

The case for a two unitary model - Growth

Enabling sustainable, inclusive economic development
Two unitaries will provide access to funding and increase the prosperity and wellbeing of businesses and communities. Two unitaries
will provide focus to address the clear inequality in digital connectivity across Cumbria.

Page 66

Cumbria has missed out on significant funding and investment through lack of a
strong voice, friction between tiers of government and not having access to funding
pools. A two unitary system will provide scale, streamlining of policy and a clear
voice to access funding and support the prosperity and levelling up of businesses
and communities.
Operating as two unitaries across Cumbria will provide Councils with strengthened
governance and scale for funding and financing. This will enable cheaper borrowing with
lower administration costs than seven separate organisations seeking to access resources. It
will also provide coordination and prioritisation with regard to new and existing funding
streams being accessed by councils e.g. Towns Fund and any successor to the Local
Growth Fund while retaining a local understanding of where that funding is needed most.
A Mayoral Combined Authority across the unitaries will also enable access to new, additional
funding for strategic transport and economic development including Gain Share funding
(typically spanning 30 years and allocated in 5-yearly settlements), as well as functionspecific funding streams. While the details of a devolution deal require negotiation with
central government, it should reflect the local needs of residents across Cumbria and a two
unitary structure of local government reorganisation is a clear step to understanding those
needs and achieving local ambitions for devolution. An MCA will also provide consensus and
a strategic approach to address the challenges of a diverse place with different drivers which
has previously resulted in competition rather than collaboration between organisations.
1. https://www.thecumbrialep.co.uk/infrastructure

Two unitaries will provide
focus to address the clear
inequality in digital
connectivity across Cumbria.
7% of premises do not have
access to superfast broadband
and the issue is particularly acute
in Eden in the east and across the
Lake District National Park.1 Two
unitaries will be able to better
understand and address
‘coldspots and notspots’ in their
area which will be a key priority to
level up connectivity across
Cumbria.
This issue is particularly important
when considering post-COVID-19
recovery when digital connectivity
can enable more flexible working
patterns to attract people to live
and work from Cumbria.
51

Public support
Page 67
52

The case for a two unitary model –Support

Our approach to support
A two unitary model of local government will attract the support of the people and communities of Cumbria and reflect how the people
of Cumbria identify with place.

Page 68

In advance of formal consultation on the options for local government reorganisation we have undertaken some initial work to
gather evidence of support for a two unitary model. This has been constrained by the timelines of the process and current
restrictions so we have included a sample of responses to be built upon following this proposal and through government
consultation.
We have worked with over 500 stakeholders
including:

We have listened to our residents, businesses and
communities through a range of media including:

• Cumbria residents

• Meetings and calls

• Local businesses and community groups

• Inviting letters of support

• Town Boards

• Online surveys

• District Council staff and officers

• Social media engagement

• Cumbria Association of Local Councils
• Cumbria Police and Crime Commissioner
• Action with Communities in Cumbria
• Local Members of Parliament
• Britain’s Energy Coast Business Cluster
• Prospect Union
• University of Central Lancashire
• Lakes College

53

The case for a two unitary model – Support

Evidence of support
We have included a small sample of the evidence of support for the two unitary model of unitary government in Cumbria.

140
120

“A two unitary authority model provides the right balance of population size
and economies of scale – taking into account the practicalities of the
Cumbrian economy and geography. Cumbria is too large for a single
authority to be effective” Mark Jenkinson, MP for Workington

How important is it to you
that your local council
remains as close as possible
to the communities it
represents?

Page 69

“A council leadership structure comprising of two-unitary authorities,
overseen by a combined authority, headed by an elected mayor would
benefit the local area and allow consideration for the different needs
of the more remote and rural aspects” Cathy Jackson, Executive
Dean, Faculty of Clinical and Biomedical Sciences, University of
Central Lancashire

100
80
60

“Due to the wide geographical expanse of Cumbria as a whole I would agree that
there should be two unitary authorities overseen by a combined authority and a
directly elected Mayor. I believe this will deliver the best option for economic
growth and a concentrated drive of investment.” John Coughlan, Chief Executive
of TSP Engineering and Chair of the Workington Towns Fund programme

40
20
0
Not
important
at all

Very
important

“We want our voice to be valued and taken more into account up
here for our local communities and be seen as more of a part of the
rest of the country” Resident (anonymous)

“What this county needs is joined-up thinking, a clear structure that allows
for transparency, efficiency, and accountability whilst respecting the
relationships between our communities. In my view, your proposals do just
that.” Trudy Harrison, MP for Copeland
Survey delivered by Copeland and Allerdale Councils ended 2nd December 2020 – 213 responses

“The opportunity to create two unitary authorities
spearhead by an elected mayor will ensure robust
service delivery and democratic representation that
delivers economic benefit and support for all residents
and communities.” Michael Pemberton, Chief Executive
of BEC

54

The case for a two unitary model – Support

Evidence of support
ACTion with Communities in Cumbria, a rural and community development charity in Cumbria, delivered a survey which asked
people to list things local government currently do well and not so well, as well, as ranking issues of most importance to rural
areas. The survey gathered responses from 491 residents and is summarised on their website, we have provided some key
findings.
“Responders were positive about the delivery of waste collection and recycling services, Education – particularly village schools and
Social Services. They were less happy with public transport, planning and affordable housing.” Lorraine Smyth, CEO of ACTion with
Communities in Cumbria

Page 70

75%
80%
68%

wanted decisions made at the most local level

“Consistently people say they want public transport, local
healthcare, locally affordable housing and local services.
A new inclusion on the priority list is action on climate
change. Other issues people rated highly were
Broadband, Bio-diversity and Flooding as issues any
new authority should address. “

wanted local services to stay in their local area

wanted local services to be improved

55

Page 71

The case for
East Cumbria
and West
Cumbria

56

East Cumbria and West Cumbria

East Cumbria and West Cumbria summary
Unitaries built around communities in the East and the West of Cumbria are the best way to achieve the
vision and ambitions for services and growth in Cumbria This page outlines the key arguments supporting
the model and there is further detail and evidence to support each argument in this section.
East and West unitaries will…

Carlisle

• align with the existing road and rail infrastructure
• connect ports infrastructure to air links and across Cumbria
• provide focus to address the clear inequality in digital connectivity across Cumbria

Page 72

Allerdale

• reflect different communities and will provide representation and services to address
local priorities, building on existing outstanding services

Eden

• build upon existing service delivery footprints which demonstrates natural alignment
and will minimise disruption while enabling improvement

Copeland
South
South
Lakeland

• achieve efficiencies and financial sustainability
• build upon existing back office shared services and efficiencies demonstrating natural
alignment in corporate functions
• provide democratic representation by establishing political entities that represent a
culturally coherent population

Barrow

West Cumbria

East Cumbria

Districts

Allerdale,
Carlisle,
Copeland

Barrow, Eden,
South Lakeland

Population1

274,622 (55%)

225,390 (45%)

• enable focused development and support for tourism assets
• have strong, balanced economies which are well diversified and provide a strong
footprint to develop and grow
• provide a balanced division of growth projects but will also enable focused
development
• protect, support and strengthen critical national projects including world-leading
nuclear capabilities, carbon reduction and hydrogen fuels

Lancast
er

57
1. ONS

East Cumbria and West Cumbria – Impact on service delivery

Accelerate connectivity across Cumbria
East and West unitaries align with, and can accelerate, existing connectivity across Cumbria. The lack of digital and physical
infrastructure is a challenge across the county but East and West unitaries fit with existing road, rail, sea and air links and can support
local priorities in strategic planning.

Page 73

East and West unitaries align with the existing road and rail
infrastructure

East and West unitaries connect ports infrastructure to air links
and across Cumbria

Travel infrastructure in Cumbria needs to operate around the
Lakes District National Park and flows in the east and west of the
county.

Port connections are important as they support the growing offshore
wind industry as well as defence, cargo and energy transport. Both
unitaries will have port access, through Barrow in the east and Silloth
and Workington in the west. The Port of Workington is in the south of
Allerdale and is only 4 miles from the district border with Copeland so
a West Cumbria unitary supports links between the port and the local
area and industries. It also connects the port to Carlisle Lake District
Airport which runs commercial flights and now operates passenger
services to London Southend, Belfast and Dublin.

• East Cumbria is connected by the A680, M6 and A6 and local
train lines and the LEP identified a strong travel to work zone
between Barrow-in-Furness and South Lakeland.
• West Cumbria is linked by the Cumbria Coast Line and the A66
and there is a strong commuter relationship between Allerdale
and Copeland and between the north of Allerdale and Carlisle
• Both authorities will have nationwide connections through the
M6 motorway and West Coast Main Line which stops at
Oxenholme, Penrith and Carlisle and which can connect Carlisle
Lake District Airport to the wider region.

These connections may grow in importance in light of the
Government’s Freeports strategy. This aims to establish Freeports as
national hubs for global trade and investment across the UK, promote
regeneration and job-creation and create hotbeds for innovation.1
Cumbria would be a prime site for Freeports and a number of sites
including the Port of Barrow and Carlisle Lake District Airport may
submit proposals for Freeport status.
58

1. HM Government, Freeports, October 2020

East Cumbria and West Cumbria – Impact on service delivery

Services designed for local demographics
East and West unitaries reflect significant differences in the demographics of Cumbria so provide strong unitaries that can focus on
priority issues in their local area.

Cumbria has very different communities and challenges within it. East and West unitaries
reflect and understand those differences and will provide representation and services to
address local concerns and priorities.

Page 74

The population will be slightly larger in West Cumbria which will have a slightly lower ratio of
residents over 65 to working age residents. However the number of residents over 65 is forecast to
grow evenly in both unitaries and these factors will balance the economic impact of the ageing
population across Cumbria.
All districts have achieved their housing delivery targets but the need for housing is different between
the two unitaries. Affordability is particularly challenging in the east and south of the county and east
and west unitaries can be more agile in responding to local housing markets.

Fig. 9
Average
median
weekly wage
of resident

West
Cumbria

£458

£463

22.94

Proportion of
LSOAs in
most
deprived
nationally
(10%)
12%

31.12

24%

22.00

6%

Copeland

25.01

6%

Eden
South
Lakeland

16.33

-

12.50

-

Fig. 10
Indices of IMD Average
Score
Multiple
Deprivation

There are stark contrasts in levels of deprivation across Cumbria. All districts in West Cumbria have
between 6 and 12% of the most deprived communities nationally. East Cumbria has areas with low
deprivation in Eden and South Lakeland but 24% of communities in Barrow are in the most deprived
Allerdale
10% nationally. Across the unitaries this results in relatively even levels of deprivation between
Barrow
unitaries, an East & West model will enable greater local focus on the socioeconomic development of
Carlisle
those areas.
There are also important similarities between the unitaries which ensure the model is balanced
between two health unitaries. Average household income is evenly balanced as the average median
weekly wage is just £5 different between unitaries. Population density is also most evenly distributed
in an East and West model rather than any other possible unitary model.

East Cumbria

59

East Cumbria and West Cumbria – Impact on service delivery

Enhancing existing service collaboration
East and West unitaries will minimise disruption by building upon existing shared patterns of service delivery and collaboration. There
are already strong collaborative arrangements in both unitary footprints and an East & West model will enable them to grow and
develop.
East and West unitaries build upon existing service delivery footprints which demonstrates natural alignment and will minimise
disruption caused to residents through local government reorganisation. For instance:

Page 75

Waste services: fit neatly within the East and West unitary footprints as both
will have access to waste disposal facilities in Barrow and Carlisle.
Highways: under the current system highways are already managed under
structures that align with an East and West footprint (Copeland and Allerdale
and Barrow and South Lakeland). The highways services in the north of
Cumbria can be integrated into the two unitary model representing a
consolidation of service delivery.
Children’s safeguarding: The Cumbria Local Safeguarding Children Board
operate through three locality groups and the East & West model maintains
two (Allerdale and Copeland and Barrow and South Lakeland) within single
unitaries. The group that covers Carlisle and Eden would be split but a two
unitary structure is likely to negate the need for locality structures as unitaries
will be an appropriate size to manage services.
There is an opportunity to rationalise front office services within the two
unitary model that allows services to remain local and drives both staff
productivity and reduced asset costs. The unitaries can build on the model in
Cockermouth where the Borough, County and Town Councils deliver local
services in one building to enable local residents to get a one-stop service.

Egremont Castle

60

East Cumbria and West Cumbria – Financial benefits and sustainability

Achieve efficiencies and financial sustainability
East and West unitaries will both achieve significant savings through local government reorganisation which will quickly offset initial
implementation costs and provide unitaries that are sustainable.

The opportunity for annual efficiencies under an 'West & East' model is estimated at between £19.1m and £31.6m.
Fig. 11 Efficiencies (£m per year)

Page 76

Existing cost
base
assessed

Efficiencies
Base

Stretch

Percentage of
existing cost
base

Category

Description

Workforce

Number of full time employees including management

104.9

11.5

16.8

11% - 16%

Cultural Activities

Culture and heritage, recreation and sports inc. tourism and parks

18.5

1.1

2.3

6% - 12%

Planning & Related

Development applications and decisions

13.5

1.3

2.8

10% - 21%

Environmental & regulatory

Regulatory, bereavement, community safety, flood defence and
drainage

11.7

0.4

2.0

3% - 17%

Waste

Waste collection and disposal

48.0

1.9

3.5

4% - 7%

Housing services

Housing benefits, homelessness and other welfare

6.9

0.4

1.1

6% - 16%

Systems

Software and technology requirements

10.3

1.1

1.6

11% - 16%

Office Space

Ability to centralise services in fit for purpose office space

1.2

0.3

0.3

23% - 25%

Democratic arrangements

Democratic process and number of members

1.9

1.0

1.2

53% - 63%

217.0

19.1

31.6

7% - 11%

Services

Total (£m)
West (Allerdale, Carlisle, Copeland)

Estimate of efficiencies achievable by the West Cumbria authority

121.0

10.7

17.6

4% - 6%

East (Eden, Barrow, S. Lakeland)

Estimate of efficiencies achievable by the East Cumbria authority

96.0

8.4

14.0

3% - 5%

Assumptions supporting these savings are provided in Appendix B
61

East Cumbria and West Cumbria – Financial benefits and sustainability

Achieve efficiencies and financial sustainability
Implementation costs reflect the estimated investment required to receive the benefit of the potential savings. The transition
would require a total one-off investment of £17.6 – 23.8m. Based on the forecast savings and implementation costs we calculate
that the East and West model will provide a net contribution in the third year after implementation.

Fig. 12 Implementation costs (one off costs, £ m)*

Total

Figure 13: Payback period

Page 77

Base
case

Stretch
case

Redundancy and pension allowances and service
contract termination costs and transaction fees

9.0

12.1

Systems

Aligning systems and digital infrastructure

1.3

1.8

Estates and facilities

Reconfiguration of buildings, disposal costs and
lease termination fees

1.5

2.1

Transition team

Implementation programme team including; Legal,
contract negotiations and specialist support

3.5

4.7

Culture and
communications

Communications, branding and training

0.7

0.9

Contingency (10%)

1.6

2.2

Total (£m)

17.6

23.8

Category

Description

Workforce and Services

West (Allerdale, Carlisle,
Copeland)

Estimate of implementation costs for the West
Cumbria authority

9.6

13.1

East (Eden, Barrow, South
Lakeland)

Estimate of implementation costs for East
Cumbria authority

7.9

10.7

62

East Cumbria and West Cumbria – Financial benefits and sustainability

Build upon existing back office collaboration
East and West unitaries build upon existing back office shared services and efficiencies demonstrating natural alignment in corporate
functions. Local government reorganisation should build upon these footprints through an East and West model to accelerate those
efficiencies.
East and West unitaries build upon existing back office shared
services and efficiencies demonstrating natural alignment in
corporate functions.

Page 78

Districts in Cumbria have been developing shared corporate service
functions to achieve financial efficiencies and to take advantage of
natural alignments. Local government reorganisation should build upon
these footprints through and East and West model to accelerate those
efficiencies.
Allerdale, Carlisle and Copeland (Districts in the west) operate a shared
revenue and benefits ICT platform and performance management team
which provides resilience as well as efficiency and have previously
explored a shared revenue and benefits office.
Eden and South Lakeland districts also use a shared and integrated IT
service which could be built upon within the east unitary. Barrow and
South Lakeland operate a Joint Committee on economic development
and have looked at shared functions for facilities management and
grounds maintenance.

Wastwater

63

East Cumbria and West Cumbria – Democratic representation

Aligning political geography with cultural geography
East and West unitaries provide democratic representation by establishing political entities that represent a culturally coherent
population. The model reflects the cultural, historical and social communities of Cumbria which will ensure they are accurately
reflected in the political process.
East and West unitaries provide democratic representation by establishing political entities that represent a culturally coherent
population. We have outlined some key points regarding the cultural geography of East Cumbria and West Cumbria below.
West Cumbria

Page 79

Sports: rugby league and football are part of the lifeblood
of west Cumbria, both professionally and at the amateur
level. Local leagues include strong tribal rivalries and an
interrelated competitive history within West and East
boundaries.
Industrial and post-industrial community: west Cumbria
has a strong manufacturing, industrial and mining history
which is embedded in culture and society.
Strong town links: the coastal area between Egremont
and Maryport, Whitehaven and Workington in particular,
have strong connections. They also have a strong cultural
and commercial relationship with Carlisle including nightlife,
shopping, retail and supply chains.
Educational relationships: there are no further education
colleges in Copeland as there is a strong interrelationship
with Allerdale and both travel to learn to Carlisle who
commute daily between the districts.

East Cumbria
Tourism and the Lake District: the Lake District plays a
prominent role in the culture and economy of Eden and
South Lakeland, creating jobs and supporting healthy and
active lifestyles.
Rurality: communities in east Cumbria face common
challenges of rurality and sparsity which are reflected in
culture.
Town centres: Kendal in South Lakeland works as a hub
for many residents across the south of Eden.
Historical relationships: the history of Barrow and parts
of South Lakeland are deeply interrelated and are
supported by road and rail links.

64

East Cumbria and West Cumbria – Democratic representation

Aligning political geography with cultural geography
Case study: Whitehaven and Workington
The towns of Workington and Whitehaven on the west coast of
Cumbria are under 8 miles apart and under 18 minutes travel time
by train or car but are in different districts. An East and West split
keeps Allerdale and Copeland together, maintaining the close
social links between the towns regarding shopping, education,
nightlife.

Page 80

There are also strong economic links, exemplified by collaboration
regarding nuclear and energy facilities on the west coast and the
current joint proposal to host a Heathrow Hub for logistics in the
area.
These connections are critical for Copeland as the Lake District
National Park cuts across the south of the District making
connections to the south and east inefficient.

Case study: Heathrow Hub Business and community leaders in Allerdale and Copeland worked together to submit a bid for the area to host
one of four logistics hubs to support the planned expansion of Heathrow. The expansion project was expected to deliver up to £16 billion worth of
economic benefits and create 15,300 jobs across the North West. The local bid was led by Sellafield Ltd as part of its work to help develop the
area's economy and make it less reliant on the nuclear industry.
It was supported by Copeland and Allerdale Borough Councils, Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership, Britain's Energy Coast Business Cluster,
Workington and Copeland MP’s. The Lillyhall Industrial Estate in Workington was a shortlist of 18 UK sites to host Heathrow Airport’s off-site
construction hub. The 18 sites have been narrowed down from a longlist of 65 from over 130 initial expressions of interest.
65
1. Google maps

East Cumbria and West Cumbria - Growth

Diversify our tourism industry
East and West unitaries will enable the greater focus on the tourism assets of West Cumbria which are often overshadowed by the
Lake District and the east of Cumbria.

The Lake District National Park is a valuable asset for Cumbrian tourism but East and
West unitaries will enable focused development and support for tourism assets in the
west.

Page 81

Cumbrian tourism is often overshadowed by the Lake District National Park which brings in over
19 million tourists.1 However there are a wealth of assets in the west of the county which do not
receive the same focus. These include historic Carlisle City, the Solway Coast Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty, the wider coastline and beaches, roman history including Hadrian’s
Wall, the start of the Coast to Coast cycle route, nuclear history, towns like Maryport and
Ravenglass and a wealth of adventure and active tourism opportunities. Strengthening the west
Cumbria tourism identity and industry will strengthen and diversify the existing strong industry,
provide jobs and opportunities to level up wider Cumbria. A stronger west Cumbria tourism
industry would also balance out some of the pressure on tourism hotspots in the Lake District,
particularly during summer months.
Case study: Solway Coaster Work is currently underway to construct a £1.25 million
multi-user pathway between the coastal towns of Allonby and Silloth in West Cumbria.
Opening in early 2021 the ‘Solway Coaster’ will form part of Hadrian’s Cycleway (National
Route 72) and will be the latest piece of the jigsaw of the stunning route through Copeland,
Allerdale and Carlisle. Set against a backdrop of the Solway Coast Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty and Hadrian’s Wall World Heritage Site, the new route will further boost north and west
Cumbria's credentials as fantastic place to live and visit, and in particular, the new authority’s
ability to drive coastal tourism.
1. https://www.lakedistrict.gov.uk/learning/factsandfigures

Allonby to Silloth coastal cycle path

66

East Cumbria and West Cumbria - Growth

Supporting strong, balanced economies
East and West unitaries will have strong, balanced economies which are well diversified and provide a strong footprint to develop and
grow.

East and West unitaries will have strong, balanced economies
which are well diversified and provide a strong footprint to develop
and grow.

Page 82

An East and West model provides two balanced and inclusive
economies, reflected in quite even GVA per head (£22,815 in east and
£25,048 in the west).1 While the total GVA is higher in the west this is
balanced out by a slightly larger population.
Business rates are well balanced between the two unitaries with 51% of
the £35.7m total being received by authorities in the west and 49%
received by authorities in the east.2
The industry mix in both authorities will be quite similar with clear
strengths for both in manufacturing, logistics, accommodation and food,
real estate and public administration and healthcare. There is a
significantly higher percentage of businesses in the agriculture forestry
and fishing industry than the national average.3

1.
2.
3.

ONS, Gross Value Added, 2017
Council accounts, 2019-20 unaudited
ONSIDBR, 2020

Fig. 14 GVA of East and West unitaries
7000
6000
5000
4000
3000
2000
1000
0
East

West

Recreation, other services and household activities
Public administration; education; health
Professional and administrative services
Real estate activities
Financial and insurance activities
Information and communication
Distribution; transport; accommodation and food
Construction
Manufacturing
Agriculture, mining, electricity, gas, water and waste

67

East Cumbria and West Cumbria - Growth

Supporting strong, balanced economies
East and West unitaries provide a balanced division of growth projects but will also enable focused development
The sixteen projects under the current Cumbria Growth Deal are evenly balanced between the two unitaries but there is significant scope
to enhance the growth potential of Cumbria. An East & West model would provide two partners to work with a stronger LEP and to bring
greater focus to the rural economy, particularly in Eden. Authorities in west Cumbria have been collaborating on economic development
and exploring growth deal across west Cumbria, building upon the strong nuclear, energy and industrial footprint in the area. This
collaboration would be strengthened through an East & West model and a Combined Authority working across both can bring coherence to
the many growth projects across Cumbria, developed due to the untapped and uncoordinated economic potential.

Page 83

Projects under current Cumbria Growth Deal
West Cumbria

East Cumbria

Port of Workington Access and Infrastructure
Carlisle College
Carlisle Airport
Carlisle City Centre Developments
Whitehaven Town Centre
Lilyhall North
Durranhill Industrial Estate
Leconfield Industrial Estate

Ulverston Infrastructure Programme
Barrow Advanced Manufacturing Technology Centre
Barrow Waterfront
Kendal Transport Improvements
South Ulverston Junction Improvements

Pan Cumbria
Connecting Cumbria Phase 2
Cumbria Skills and Capital Investment Programme
Growing our Potential
Optimising Connectivity
1.

https://www.cumbria.gov.uk/business/ecodev/growthdeal.asp

68

East Cumbria and West Cumbria - Growth

Protect and support our nuclear expertise
East and West unitaries will protect, support and strengthen the nuclear industry and capabilities at Sellafield. This is a critical part of
the national infrastructure and will support the UK’s nuclear strategy through world-leading expertise.

East and West unitaries maintain the linkages between Copeland and Allerdale which
support the nuclear energy site at Sellafield

Page 84

Sellafield is a large site at the heart of a community which employs 13,000 people and the
nuclear industry in Cumbria brings £3.5bn GVA to the UK economy.1 The jobs and opportunities
it, and the wider industry, creates, are critical to the districts of Copeland and Allerdale and an
East and West model maintain those districts in a single unitary. This retains the specialist skills
and expertise regarding a nuclear licensed site within one unitary that is aligned to a community
in the west that is supportive of the nuclear industry.
Sellafield is a critical site at the forefront of safe decommissioning and has provided expertise to
nuclear projects internationally but is just part of wider nuclear capabilities in Cumbria. The
National Nuclear Laboratory is a leading centre for nuclear fuel research and development, the
Nuclear Decommissioning Authority is based in Cumbria and a wealth of companies work in the
energy ecosystem on the west coast. These assets will be critical to achieving the UK’s net zero
ambitions which include small and advanced reactors and which will rely on the unique
experience of Cumbria’s nuclear sector.2 The East and West model provides a local authority
which can promote that experience and a community that is supportive of the industry.

69
1.
2.

Cumbria Nuclear Prospectus, LEP
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/pm-outlines-his-ten-point-plan-for-a-green-industrial-revolution-for-250000-jobs

East Cumbria and West Cumbria - Growth

Protect and support our nuclear expertise

Page 85

The nuclear industry has a significant positive social and economic impact on Cumbria and the national economy and the East
and West model has garnered significant support from businesses and stakeholders looking to protect it through local
government reorganisation. Below are a sample of letters of support received.
Julia Pyke, Director of Sizewell C
Financing and Economic Regeneration:
“We agree that a twin-unitary structure
Steve Nicholson, on behalf of
could further drive the economic growth
the Prospect union: “Copeland
and development engine in Cumbria. Such
and Allerdale must be allowed to
a framework, shows clear potential for a
continue its successful working in
structure that is large enough to receive
partnership
position,
as
this
devolved powers, but small enough that
Paul Howarth, Chief Executive Officer
reform is critical for the economic
important links with residents and
National Nuclear Laboratory: “we see
businesses will be maintained. This, if set
future of West Cumbria and to
benefit in working together with Copeland
up and accompanied by robust
keep Sellafield the Centre of
and Allerdale under the auspices of a single
governance and vision, will provide a
Nuclear Excellence in the UK.”
authority, given that there is a massive
stronger voice, maintain responsiveness,
connection and interdependency between
and deliver real and lasting change to the
the two districts. We are one of a number of
region. On the above basis, we are
companies with operations in both districts,
supportive of the model proposed by
and it’s clear to us that these two districts
Copeland and Allerdale Borough Councils,
form a distinct economic “ecosystem” of
in respect of local government
West Cumbria, with many facets, not least of
reorganisation in Cumbria.”
which is the colossal importance of the
nuclear / clean energy sector to both. To
David Peattie, Chief Executive of the Nuclear Decommissioning
break up this West Cumbrian ecosystem
Agency: “We see merit in a unitary approach in Cumbria. We have always
across two unitary authorities would – we
sought to work in partnership in areas such as planning and economic
believe - be a detrimental step.”
regeneration. But there is no doubt that the current splits between county
and district levels introduce complexity and additional cost into our work.”
70

Page 86

Implementing
local
government
reorganisation

71

Bowness-on-Solway, Allerdale

IMPLEMENTING LOCAL GOVERMENT REORGANISATION

Expected implementation timeline
Detailed implementation planning will be fundamental to successful local government reorganisation. Activities and milestones are
considered against four high level phases, which are explained in the following pages.

Fig 15. Timeline for transition to a unitary structure

2021

2020
11 12 1

2

Page 87

Phase 1:
Pre-planning

3

4

5

6

7

2022
8

9 10 11 12 1

2

3

Phase 2:
Joint committees

4

5

6

7

2023
8

9 10 11 12 1

Phase 3:
Shadow authorities

2

3

4

5

6

7

2024
8

9 10 11 12 1

2

3

4

Phase 4:
Combined and Unitary authorities

Dec 2020
Final Case for Change submission
Feb 2021
Secretary of State Decision on proposals to take forward
Jan 2023
New Council Budgets finalised

Feb 2021
Public consultation period starts
June 2021
Secretary of State decision

Apr 2023
Vesting date

July 2021
Formation of Joint Committees
Aug 2021
Parliamentary Approval of Structural Change Order

May 2023
Elections to unitary
authorities

Apr 2022
Establish shadow authorities

72

IMPLEMENTING LOCAL GOVERMENT REORGANISATION

Implementation phases (1/4)
Phase 1: Pre-planning
Stakeholder engagement and consultation is ongoing, as set out in the Public Support section.
Prior to the delivery of Local Government Reorganisation, there will be a need for cooperation and consensus building between key
stakeholders across central and local government. Within Cumbria there will likely be competing bids for the structure of local authorities,
and as such the Secretary of State will form a conclusion based on consultation with all parties involved.
The following key activities take place:

Page 88

• Finalise a structured engagement plan for all partner authorities, impacted bodies, and key stakeholders;
• Further consultation on the options put forward, seeking wider citizen engagement on the topic of local government reorganisation; and
• Challenge sessions to build consensus.

73

IMPLEMENTING LOCAL GOVERMENT REORGANISATION

Implementation phases (2/4)
Phase 2: Joint Committees
Design and more detailed planning work commences from the moment that the Secretary of State makes a decision on the future
structure of local government in Cumbria. Joint Committees will sit under a Leaders Oversight Group to ensure each council is
represented and to reflect the political makeup of the area.
Activities begin to focus on the establishment of the unitary authorities, but with coordination required across all seven current
authorities.
The following key activities will take place:

Page 89

• Establish formal governance and programme management arrangements to be taken forward into new shadow authorities;
• Agree detailed programme implementation plan;
• Confirm future service requirements and commence detailed service transition planning;
• Appoint programme team to support transition;
• Align existing change activity across constituent authorities;
• Review baseline IT architecture;
• Baseline property portfolio and commence planning;
• Agree communications strategy;
• Agree high level HR transition plan; and
• Ongoing staff and trade union engagement and communications.

74

IMPLEMENTING LOCAL GOVERMENT REORGANISATION

Implementation phases (3/4)
Phase 3: Shadow authorities
In line with other Local Government Reorganisation processes, the District authorities expect shadow authorities to be in place one year
prior to the vesting date.
The two shadow authorities will be made up of Councillors and Officers from the current authorities, who will oversee the following key
activities:
• Detailed integration planning and transition of services to the new unitary authorities, identifying cost and timelines;
• Organisation and operating model design, and initial structures for the new authorities;

Page 90

• Appointment of Chief Executives and leadership teams;
• Staff transition process, focussed on the need to retain a skilled workforce with the right culture. TUPE of staff to new authorities;
• Establishment of new payroll arrangements;
• Management of data as part of initial IT systems transition;
• Ongoing stakeholder engagement, including reinforcing current partnerships and formation of new partnerships, where appropriate;
• Budget setting for the new authorities;
• Consolidation of funding arrangements, council tax equalisation, business rates collection, harmonisation of HRA, alignment of treasury
management and reserves; and
• Ongoing staff and trade union engagement and communications.

75

IMPLEMENTING LOCAL GOVERMENT REORGANISATION

Implementation phases (4/4)
Phase 4: Combined and Unitary authorities
At the point that new authorities formally come into existence, greater focus can be placed on the long term strategy for the future authorities.
While the process is separate, implementing a Combined Authority at the same time as unitaries are vested will reduce the implementation
time and cost and provide greater clarity to the public.
Authorities may vary in their level of ambition, but likely activities include:
• Establishment of a transformation programme, with responsibility for confirming and implementing a target operating model for the new
authority and leveraging synergies. This is likely to include detailed review of:

Page 91

• Customer contact;
• Service delivery;
• Back office/enabling services;
• IT and data strategy;
• People, organisational development and culture; and
• Estates.
• Implementation of new Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP)/Customer Relationship Management (CRM) systems, or further consolidation
of current systems;
• Detailed review of existing contracts and third part spend, consolidating and rationalising spend whilst seeking to take advantage of
economies of scale;
• Consolidation of fees and charges;
• Alignment of pay, terms and conditions; and
• Ongoing change management and communications.
76

IMPLEMENTING LOCAL GOVERMENT REORGANISATION

Implementation workstreams
As part of initial planning, ten workstreams have been identified to support detailed planning. These workstreams are described below.
During Phase 1 and 2 activities require significant contribution and co-ordination from all authorities. At the start of Phase 3, when
shadow authorities form, the majority of activities take place within unitaries individually but collaboratively.
Workstream

Workstream scope

Page 92

1

Programme management
& governance

Ensure that all planning, governance and delivery activities that support the programme and the other
workstreams are in place and tracked. Ensure that effective governance structures are established in
the new unitary authorities and oversee development and delivery of a target operating model for the
new authorities.

2

Legal & democratic

Establish the constitutions of the new authorities integrate into new legal entities. Manage all changes
required to deliver elections under the new structure. This will include ensuring strong Overview and
Scrutiny functions are developed in both unitaries.

3

Engagement &
communications

Develop and deliver a communications strategy. Carry out engagement with communities, parishes,
towns and businesses.

4

People

Plan and manage the HR process and overall people and cultural change for each of new authorities.
Carry out staff and trade union engagement.

5

Customer contact &
service delivery

Plan, design and deliver the new approach to customer engagement in each authority across all
services. Integrate services within each of the new Councils, ensuring all existing services are aligned
to new policies and process.

6

Data, systems &
technology

Review the existing IT assets and systems before designing and implementing the IT solutions for the
new authorities, linked to the target operating model. Ensure that data is transferred and managed
effectively during the transition, setting the authorities up to become data driven organisations.

77

IMPLEMENTING LOCAL GOVERMENT REORGANISATION

Implementation workstreams
Workstream

Workstream scope

7

Finance

Manage the financial transition to the new authorities, including setting the first budget for each of the
new authorities. Develop and deliver a financial strategy for each of the new authorities.

8

Estates

Analyse the estate portfolio of the constituent authorities and determine the appropriate estate strategy
for each of the new authorities.

9

Contracts & commercial

Manage the contractual changes required, and ensure that the two new authorities are set up to take
advantage of commercial opportunities.

10 Combined Authority

Page 93

Undertake the Review and Scheme Preparation elements of a Cumbrian Combined Authority to sit
across the Unitary authorities.

78

IMPLEMENTING LOCAL GOVERMENT REORGANISATION

Transition of services
Transition of county and unitary services, including social care

Transition of district services

Existing operating models will be used as the basis for future
operations.

District level services will be consolidated into each of the two
unitary authorities. However, decisions will be required regarding
the estates and working locations to be retained, with many of the
current District offices likely to continue in a different form under
the new authority.

Key activities will include:
• Review of current locality structure and workforce to identify
appropriate allocation to future authorities;

Page 94

• Agreement of future delivery structures with service providers and
shadow authorities;
• Refinement of functional operating models and services, aligned to
new geographies;
• Review and refinement of service policies, processes and
procedures, including Service Level Agreements for each level of
service provision;
• Restructure of membership on boards, reviewing local
representation; and
• Detailed transition planning development to ensure continuity of
services.
Next Steps
As set out in this section, the District and Borough Councils have commenced high level implementation planning, and are seeking to
engage the County Council to progress more detailed joint planning. Recent local government reorganisation processes, for example
in Dorset, will provide invaluable insight, as well as confidence that the formation of two unitary authorities across a County area can
be delivered successfully and on time.

79

Appendices
Page 95
80

Appendix A

Tables, figures and references
Tables, figures

Tables, figures

Page 96

Fig.

Title

1

Essex, Greater London,
Hertfordshire and
Cumbria maps

Google MyMaps

2

Population density

3

Carlisle to Barrow travel
times

4

Health Geography

5

Financial efficiencies

6

Top 100 firms in Cumbria

7

Median weekly pay

8

Indices of Multiple
Deprivation

Source

Fig.

Title

Source

9

Median weekly pay

10

Indices of Multiple
Deprivation

ONS population
estimates

11

Efficiencies

Appendix B

Google maps

12

Implementation costs

Appendix B

13

Payback costs

Appendix B

NHS England, CCG
Directory

14

GVA of East and West
unitaries

See Appendix C

15

Implementation timeline

ONS
English Indices of
Deprivation 2019

ONS GVA 2017
N/A

Cumbria LEP
ONS
English Indices of
Deprivation 2019

81

Page 97

Appendix B Financial
assumptions and
benchmarking

82

Financial assumptions and benchmarking

Existing cost base
This page details the total expenditure across all councils included in the model which was used to calculate savings. County Council
expenditure on cultural and related services, environmental and regulatory services, planning and development services and central
services has been included but adult social care and education have not as they do not provide opportunities for integration efficiencies.
Systems, office space, and democratic expenses have been subtracted from the County County’s central services expenses as reported in
revenue outturn data.

Page 98

Total Expenditure (£m)
Workforce
Cultural Activities
Planning & Related
Environmental & regulatory
Waste
Housing services
Systems
Office Space and facilities
Democratic arrangements
Total (£m)

Districts
62.3

County
42.6

15.1
10.7
5.3
15.4
6.9
8.1
0.3
1.2
125.3

3.4
2.8
6.4
32.6
0.0
2.3
0.9
0.7
91.7

Total Workforce expenditure
included
(£m)

Workforce breakdown
Districts

County

Highways and transport services

1.4

0.0

Housing services (GFRA only)

5.6

0.0

Cultural and related services

4.3

5.4

12.9

1.9

7.0
31.1

3.6
31.7

Other services

0.1

0.0

Total (£m)

62.3

42.6

Environmental and regulatory
services
Planning and development services
Central services

83

Financial assumptions and benchmarking

Estimated savings (1/3)
We have provided supporting detail regarding assumptions used in the financial modelling of estimated savings and implementation costs.
Further work would be required to develop an accurate model reflecting the decisions of future unitary authorities.
Category

Page 99

Workforce

% reduction of
existing cost base
Base - Stretch
Case

Savings Rationale/Assumptions
•

Assumes each authority would implement a single management structure, including single post holders for statutory positions in each unitary
authority. This is estimated to reduces the total workforce cost by 1%.

•

Assumes all duplicated senior roles across the authority would be phased out over 3 years.

•

Assumes a further reduction in FTE workforce of 10-15% (i.e. excluding senior management). This reduction focuses on non-complex roles such as
data entry, administration, non-specialist, non-leadership roles due to increased automation and digital disruption over time.

•

As a comparative reference, industry studies on automation per sector forecast over 30% reduction in cost through digital disruption. 10-15% is
therefore a conservative estimate for reorganisation reflecting that some councils function using more manual operations than others. The 11%
applied in the base case is also aligned to planned workforce savings in similar reorganisation programmes of 10 – 13%.

•

Assumes no savings occur in year 1, 20% occur in year 2 and 80% occur in year 3. The full annual potential workforce savings commences at the
start of year 4.
Assesses the annual cost of Cultural Activities services per capita.

11 - 16%

•

Cultural Activities

Planning &
Related

•

The base case of savings assumes that by sharing resources and best practice as well as integrating infrastructure, supply chains and management
teams unitaries will achieve at least the existing median performance of the six Districts. A median cost per capita is the driver for the base case, and
top quartile performance is used for the stretch case. The stretch case assumes that the unitaries will perform in the top quartile. There may be
further opportunities to save on sports and recreation facilities. Estimated Cultural Activities services could be decided and rolled out within 24 month
of the vesting date and therefore becomes effective at the start of year 3.

•

Assesses the annual cost of Planning and Related services per planning decision.

•

The base case of savings assumes that by sharing resources and best practice as well as integrating infrastructure, supply chains and management
teams unitary council will achieve at least the existing median performance of the six districts. A median cost per planning decision is the driver of
the base case with the saving assuming net performance at the current median value (note this saving is capped for the base case at 20% savings
for any individual district council). The stretch case assumes that all district councils perform in the top quartile.

•

Estimated planning and related services could be decided and rolled out within 24 month of the vesting date, and therefore becomes effective at the
start of year 3.
Assesses the annual cost of Environmental & Regulatory services per capita. Per capita was chosen over alternative measures such as per hectare
due to disproportionate impacts of geographically larger councils such as Eden.

6 – 12%

10 - 21%

•

Environmental &
Regulatory

•

The base case of savings assumes that by sharing resources and best practice as well as integrating management teams unitaries will achieve at
least the existing median performance of the six districts. A median cost per capita is the driver for the base case and the quartile per capita is used
for the stretch case. The stretch case assumes that unitary services will perform in the top quartile.

•

Estimated environmental & regulatory services could be decided and rolled out within 24 month of the vesting date, and therefore becomes effective
at the start of year 3.

3 – 17%

84

Financial assumptions and benchmarking

Estimated savings (2/3)

Category

Waste

Page 100

Housing
Services
(GFRA only)

Systems

SLAs/
Contracts

% reduction of
existing cost base
Base - Stretch Case

Savings Rationale/Assumptions
•

Assesses the annual cost of Waste services per capita. As a family of six would be expected to have more waste units than a household of one, it is
considered that population is the best measure, over say, dwellings.

•

The base case of savings assumes that by sharing resources and best practice as well as integrating management teams unitaries will achieve at least
the existing median performance of the six districts. A median cost per capita is the driver of the base case and a top quartile performance is used for
the stretch case. The stretch case assumes that unitary services will perform in the top quartile.

•

Since some councils use a third party to deliver waste collection services, contracts would need to be exited or renegotiated for the new unitary
authorities. It is understood this could take around two years from the date of transfer and therefore the estimated saving is assumed to be effective
from the start of year 3.

•

Assesses the annual cost of Housing Services per claimant.

•

The base case of savings assumes that by sharing resources and best practice as well as integrating management teams unitary councils can achieve
at least the existing median performance of the six districts. A median cost per claimant is the driver of the base case with the saving assuming net
performance at the median value (note this saving is capped for the base case at 10% savings in any given district council). The stretch case assumes
that unitaries perform in the top quartile (capped at 20% saving in any given existing district council budget).

•
•

This is assumed to take two years to implement, therefore commencing at the start of year 3.
Reduction of 11-16% on IT spend in relation to a reduction in licences (associated with the reduced number of FTE).

•

Data for the County Council IT/systems costs is not available. Information obtained from district councils, indicates that IT/Systems spend equates to
20% of the combined districts Central Services annual expenditure. It is therefore assumed County IT/Systems costs are 20% of the current County
Central Services expenditure.

•

Whilst a common area of savings identified in local government reorganisations, it is not costed separately here due to potential duplication with savings
identified by service lines above. There were limited contracts exceeding 5% of total expenditure that would have merited being considered separately
on their own merits.

•

Assumed a third party contracts exists for delivery of a given service where RO data shows little or no employees costs and substantial running
expenses.

•

No additional third party contract cost reductions are estimated for the service categories mentioned in the preceding rows of this table.

4 - 7%

6 - 16%

11 - 16%

N/A

85

Financial assumptions and benchmarking

Estimated savings (3/3)

Category

Page 101

Estates and Office
Space

Democratic
arrangements

% reduction of
existing cost
base
Base - Stretch
Case

Savings Rationale/Assumptions

•

Accommodation savings will be realised through a reduction in office space requirements.

•

Saving is the reduction in cost per desk and assumes all office space is leased.

•

Assumes each of the current local authorities is using 25 sq. ft. per FTE. This is based on consideration in line with minimum HSE regulation of 15
sq. ft. per FTE and industry best practice of approximately 100sq. Ft. per FTE.

•

Assumes 40% of FTEs undertake tasks that require desk space.

•

Assumes a ratio of 4 desks to 5 FTE, however due to the change in working behaviours prompted by Covid, it is assume a ration of 3 desks to 5
FTEs.

•

In line with the estimated reduction of FTE in the Workforce category, the new councils would have a total of 27 to 29 thousand sq. ft. in unused
office space. While it can be reasonably assumed that this would result in reduced running and maintenance costs, it is assumed that this surplus
office space would results in either termination of office leases, or if owned by the Council could be rented out.

•

Office space for lease in the Cumbria region is estimated to be a maximum of £20 per sq. ft p.a. for A-B grade offices. It is expected this saving will
come into effect at the start of year 3, from the date of transfer to unitary authorities.

•

There will be only one election for each unitary every four years, replacing the six district and one county election. The number of polling stations
will be maintained, and the number of people required to run them.

•

There would be a reduction in members in each unitary area. The districts currently have between 36 and 71 members per 100,000 people,
compared with the average benchmark of 20 members per 100,000 people across Cornwall, Wiltshire, Dorset, Buckinghamshire, BCP Council and
the envisaged unitary authority for Somerset.

•

Assumes the 84 Cumbria Country elected members are replaced in a two unitary structure by a single election in each unitary and therefore total
members allowances reported in the Cumbria County 2019/20 Statement of Accounts is a saving.

•

In addition, the estimated savings stretch case is realised by calculating current district elected members per 100,000 of population * cost per
elected member per council p.a., less, 20 members per 100,000 population per existing district council * current cost per elected member per
council p.a., and adding the above mentioned County level saving. The base case is determined by applying a differential of 10%.

•

The first election is assumed to take place in May 2023.

23 - 25%

53 - 63%

86

Financial assumptions and benchmarking

Implementation costs
The following table sets out the sources of benchmarks used to estimate implementation costs. The Rationale/assumptions describes key
assumptions made for each of the categories where the date of transition to a unitary authority is assumed to take place on the 1 April
2023.
Category

Workforce and Services

Page 102

Systems

Office Space / facilities

Transition Team and change management

Culture Change and Communications Training

Rationale and Assumptions
•

Redundancy costs will reflect the age / length of service profile

•

Termination costs of existing service contracts and transaction fees

•

Assumes no costs are incurred in year 1, 20% incurred in year 2 and 80% incurred in year 3.

•

Costs reflect previous examples of system implementation

•

Some benchmarks do not include allowance for ERP and data migration, cleansing and interface development

•

Assumes 50% of total implementation cost incurred in year 1, and 50% in year 2.

•

Some benchmarks do not include capital receipts, which can be used to fund, for example transformation or regeneration.

•

Assumes 50% of total implementation cost incurred in year 1, and 50% in year 2.

•

A significant transition team required for each unitary authority

•

Some benchmarks include public consultation

•

Some benchmarks include change management and creation of new councils

•

Assumes 50% of total implementation cost incurred in year 1, and 50% in year 2.

•

Cost allowed for other culture change such as retraining and inductions

•

Assumes 50% of total implementation cost incurred in year 1, and 50% in year 2.

87

Page 103

88

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B
Local Government Reorganisation - notes of Working Groups held on Friday
12th March
Group 1 – East / West Option
 Will be a lot more efficient from three councils. We will have share of
equipment, shared of services, shared knowledge, and localism.
 Where do Town/Parish Councils fit in. Some are running like businesses,
inconsistency between them all. This will need to be delegated once
Unitaries are formed.
 Some of the Services currently undertaken at County and Borough level,
will be coordinated and will benefit from more efficient services, and
savings can be achieved. Will get rid of a lot of division, frustration. This
would require a cabinet decision once unitary established.
 Three district council model is enough to maintain localism. East/West
for us would be the best option. People more familiar with what’s going
on in their areas
 Location and value for money - Mayoral model favoured by some but
not others. Savings and benefits either way
 East/West easier to address problems, easier to shift services about.
 Assumption that East/West would lead to a mayoral model.
 Some people think mayoral system is not as democratic, decisions
made/implemented by less people
 services would remain strategic, which would come down to local
unitary level. General opinion, blue light services would remain at
strategic, as in county now. Children’s Services, waste collection
remains localised. Localised flooding should be brought to unitary level,
easy to identify area and more resources available.
 Local oversight on local assets, better maintenance in our communities
and understanding the impact
Group 2 – One Unitary
 Group not happy with the existing arrangements with County. Current
capacity with service delivery is stretched. Future is going to be
demanding, depending on the demographic changes within the County.
 County indicating a saving of £96 million, Group questioned where is this
saving going to come from.

Page 105

 What degree of public support from the 6 districts, discussed at length
the disruption that would occur. Overall members felt it this was a
problem because the perception that people already feel towards the
County Council with a degree of alienation in terms of the different
delivery and so many decisions being based in Carlisle and the problem
geographically occurring with that.
 Serious questions around value for money
 Business partnerships in the future particularly with the West. Bearing in
mind the way current decisions are taken and whether this would be the
recipe for future in terms of distance of control between the west or
other areas.
 future investment and how inward investment would occur in the future
and to what degree we would it be prioritised in the West, if again it was
still a unitary authority that appeared not to favor the West.
 local public services in terms of the police, fire etc. and concerns
raised about the gaps in delivery because of the lack of geographical
aspect, the knowledge, the localisation.
 No clarity on Role of Police and Crime Commissioner
 Geographical aspects of retaining where we are now. 600,000 figures
in terms of the population, but the degree of alienation that exists
within our County at the moment because of the lack of a system
 In the end devolution will move downwards under town and parish
councils. Town and punish councilors are untrained volunteers in
many respects that are going to have a lot of work put on them and
we question to what degree this bridge would work. The training, the
finances, the venues, and everything that would be implicit in this
format would move forward.
 Staff redundancies could be high to achieve savings
 Stronger as a county
 One set of councillors, one set of services, easier for public to
understand
 Political issues magnified in a larger authority
Group 3 – North / South Option
 Better fit for Millom
 Positives – better aligned with Health footprint, although there are
general concerns about health trusts.

Page 106

 Concerned about splitting Copeland and Allerdale, particularly in
terms of nuclear economic footprints
 Copeland has more in common with Allerdale and Carlisle than it
does with South Lakeland and Barrow
 Much better alignment with East/West option than North/South
Option in terms of infrastructure and Geography
 Improvements in being closer to the public for County Services, but
would depend on central location for those services
 Negatives – Chaos in moving/splitting up county wide services. Less
local accountability for the currently delivered district services
 Geography better for health services with north/south option
 Police footprint, possible opportunity for improvements
 Support for this proposal - Credible for geography
Group 4 – Bay Option
 No support, limited advantages. Will continue to have close
relationship with Barrow Shipyard and Nuclear Projects but didn’t see
that working for the services
 Crosses geographical boundaries, Lancashire/Cumbria border a real
barrier.
 Would take a great deal of work to change the services currently
embedded
 Big negatives in Police and Fire Services. One is a precepting authority
in Lancashire, in Cumbria it is covered by County Council. Police and
Crime Commissioners with different precepting levels due to
communities they represent.
 North and South look different ways for transport links.
 Health Boundary does extend that way and will have to be a working
relationship regardless. Only working services working over that line
 Not enough in common with border crossing for members to support
this option
 In the North, it was felt that Copeland has nothing in Common with
Eden, not a credible geographical area
 Concern around staffing and councillor reductions

Page 107

This page is intentionally left blank

Consultation
response
Page 109
April 2021

Consultation preparation

Contents page
Contents

Page 110

1

Introduction

2

2

East and West Cumbria

4

3

The Bay

12

4

Cumbria County Council Proposal

17

5

North and South Cumbria

24

6

Blea Tarn, South Lakeland
1

Introduction
Copeland Borough Council is delighted to be able to respond to the Government’s consultation on Local Government reorganisation in
Cumbria. As an authority we believe that local government reorganisation is necessary in order to provide our residents with the
quality services they deserve.

Page 111

Purpose of this document

Consultation questions

This document provides Government with the views
of Copeland Borough Council in response to the
consultation on Local Government Reorganisation in
Cumbria.

1) Is the councils’ proposal likely to improve local government and service delivery
across each area? Specifically, is it likely to improve council services, give greater
value for money, generate savings, provide stronger strategic and local leadership,
and create more sustainable structures?

We have sought to address the relevant questions for 2) Where it is proposed that services will be delivered on a different geographic
each proposal.
footprint to currently, or through some form of joint arrangements is this likely to
improve those services? Such services may for example be children’s services,
waste collection and disposal, adult health and social care, planning, and transport.
3) Is the councils’ proposal also likely to impact local public services delivered by
others, such as police, fire and rescue, and health services?
4) Do you support the proposal from the councils?
5) Do the unitary councils proposed by the councils represent a credible
geography?
6) Do you have any other comments with regards to the proposed reorganisation of
local government in each area?

2

East and West
Cumbria
Page 112
3

East and West Cumbria

Improve local government and service delivery
1) Is the councils’ proposal likely to improve local government and service delivery across each area? Specifically, is it likely to
improve council services, give greater value for money, generate savings, provide stronger strategic and local leadership, and create
more sustainable structures?
Yes, the East and West proposal provides the right combination of change, to enable improvement, transformation and new ways of
working, with stability to avoid disruption to residents. It establishes government structures with local leadership that can deliver services
locally, maintain a strategic perspective and provide high quality sustainable services.

Page 113

Key points
Improve services: Service delivery will be local, focused and aligned with the needs, assets and infrastructure of the communities of
Cumbria. Services will still operate at scale but at a scale appropriate to the size, infrastructure and connectivity of the area. The proposal
will replace the current patchwork of layers of government and locality teams that prevent efficient service delivery, designed around what
the people of Cumbria want. Bringing services closer to communities in the East and West respectively will enable delivery to be more
local, agile and responsive to their communities. By integrating and reflecting place, rather than all of Cumbria, services can be designed to
be more efficient and more effective.
Give greater value for money: The proposal is focused on quality improvement and would establish local government structures that
enable local, efficient and targeted services. Making savings by removing layers of government, inefficient structures and establishing
authorities that are local and relevant will drive investment in modern, data-driven services that meet the needs and expectations of the
people of Cumbria. The implementation costs of reorganisation (estimated between £17.6 and £23.8m) will be paid off within two years
enabling further savings to be invested in service quality.
Generate savings: unitary government in East and West Cumbria would save over £19.1m per year. The exact savings made are subject
to the ambition and decisions of the new unitaries but could go well beyond that, if they take transformation opportunities. This proposal
would provide net savings of at least £70m over the first five years which represents a practical and achievable base case. There is also
opportunity for more transformative change to increase efficiencies that can be reinvested in improving local services.
4

East and West Cumbria

Improve local government and service delivery (cont’d)
Provide stronger strategic and local leaders: The two unitary model is required to provide clarity to residents regarding the role of
unitary and Combined Authorities. Unitary authorities need to be local to deliver services that address the needs and expectations of
residents and they need local leadership. A mayoral Combined Authority will drive strategic leadership and enable collaboration on strategic
issues. Clearly these roles cannot both be delivered effectively on the same footprint.

Page 114

Create more sustainable structures: Running costs of East and West Cumbria unitaries will be at least 7% lower than current local
government in Cumbria enabling investment in services that can sustainably support the population. Cumbria will also benefit from strong
devolved leadership as a voice for Cumbria to attract investment strengthening the economy and growing the tax income of local
government. This investment can be evenly targeted across Cumbria through constructive competition between the authorities, rather than
some areas consistently missing out on investment opportunities.

5

East and West Cumbria

Delivery on different geographic footprint
2) Where it is proposed that services will be delivered on a different geographic footprint to currently, or through some form of joint
arrangements is this likely to improve those services? Such services may for example be children’s services, waste collection and
disposal, adult health and social care, planning, and transport.

Page 115

East and West unitaries and a Cumbria Combined Authority enable form to follow function regarding services. Two authorities closely
aligned with communities will enable local, integrated service delivery that works for those communities which will improve the
understanding, responsiveness and effectiveness of those services. The Combined Authority operating across Cumbria will enable a joined
up approach to strategic issues such as skills and productivity, strategic planning and strategic transport.
Local services that will be improved through local knowledge, understanding and planning
Highways: Local and responsive services will ensure that roads are maintained and fit for purpose, a key concern for local people. Under
the current system highways are already managed under structures that align with an East and West footprint (Copeland and Allerdale and
Barrow and South Lakeland). There is also a structure in the north of Cumbria that can be integrated into the two unitary model
representing a consolidation of service delivery.
Waste services: Rubbish collection and recycling require local knowledge to develop more efficient routes and adapt to local events and
requirements. Two unitaries enables scale and efficiency through the integration of District services retaining the local knowledge of District
teams. Waste services could be integrated under a Joint Waste Authority for management overseeing the waste disposal facilities located
in the East and West. This strategic oversight will enable waste services to deliver changes to help combat climate change. Delivery units
can use local knowledge and data to consolidate, integrate and improve the efficiency of routes and operations.
Adult social care: As two unitaries will be closer to the communities, culture, demographics and geography of their population they will be
better able to stimulate community support and to provide services that promote resilience and independence for older adults. This will
reduce some pressure on adult social care as well as promoting the wellbeing and quality of life of residents. In line with the place-based
principles of Integrated Care Systems two unitaries will also provide more targeted commissioning arrangements for vulnerable adults and
people with learning disabilities enabling services tailored to local needs and facilities.
6

East and West Cumbria

Delivery on different geographic footprint (cont’d)
Local services that will be improved through local knowledge, understanding and planning (cont’d)
Children’s services: children’s services will be integrated with many of the District services that enable safe, healthy childhoods, such as
housing, public health and leisure. This approach enables planning to be more effective and services to work in harmony provided
integration is sufficiently local. The proposal will also enable collaborative working and remove disruptive transition points between services
and organisations in children’s lives. Improvement has been slow in children’s services and will be put further at risk due to financial
pressures on councils which will put services and children at risk. A two unitary model will provide an opportunity to reset the leadership
and culture of the services and provide a more sustainable financial footing.

Page 116

Children’s safeguarding: The Cumbria Local Safeguarding Children Board operate through three locality groups and the East &
West model maintains two (Allerdale and Copeland and Barrow and South Lakeland) within single unitaries. The group that covers
Carlisle and Eden would be split but a two unitary structure is likely to negate the need for locality structures as unitaries will be an
appropriate size to manage services.
Looked after children: If managed through a two unitary model caseloads for both unitaries would be, on average, in the middle third
of authorities and spread over a smaller area, enabling more focused care and support.
Strategic services that require a pan-Cumbria approach and delivery model through a Combined Authority
 Strategic transport planning including bus franchising and network subsidy under a Passenger Transport Executive to better meet
transport needs across the region and connect local travel infrastructure with tourism planning
 Integration of police and fire services, emergency planning and the Local Resilience Forum to enable integrated operations
 Strategic spatial planning to coordinate and inform local plans
 Strategic approach to education and skills including a regional productivity and skills plan
 Relationship with the LEP to reset the approach and provide a strategic approach that works for both authorities. This will include focus
on a sustainable agricultural sector and coordination to become a trailblazer for climate change in the UK.
7

East and West Cumbria

Impact on local public services
3) Is the councils’ proposal also likely to impact local public services delivered by others, such as police, fire and rescue, and health
services?

Police, fire and rescue

Page 117

Will not change boundaries: Two unitaries based on East Cumbria and West Cumbria would not impact on the boundaries of the police,
fire and rescue services which operate across Cumbria. Ambulance services are administered across the North West so would also not be
affected.
Retains strategic direction through Combined Authority: Police, fire, rescue, emergency planning and the Local Resilience Forum will
operate across the Cumbria Combined Authority enabling integrated strategic planning.
Consolidating services and intelligence: Other public services require local authorities to have detailed knowledge and intelligence
regarding their communities e.g. safeguarding. Many current local authority services are structured through three locality teams or the six
Districts and this model consolidates these services into two local authority counterparts for data sharing and joint working.

Healthcare
Driving local place-based working: The current healthcare geography of Cumbria does not align with District boundaries and is currently
split between the North Cumbria Health and Care System and the Lancashire and South Cumbria Integrated Care System. Integrated Care
Systems will rely on place based partnerships to deliver effectively, these require local knowledge and understanding which will be
delivered through East and West unitary authorities that reflect the communities and dynamics of local places.

8

East and West Cumbria

Support for the proposal
4) Do you support the proposal from the Councils?

Page 118

This model is the Council’s preferred option for Local Government Reorganisation in Cumbria. We recognise that Local Government
Reorganisation in Cumbria is essential but it must be undertaken in a form that presents the residents of the county with the greatest
benefits. We believe that this proposal is the best way forward for Cumbria because
• It provides the right level of change and transformation leading to improved services for residents
• It creates local authorities to achieve an appropriate scale for service delivery but remains embedded in the local economy
• It presents an opportunity to unlock further investment and service improvements through the creation of a Combined Mayoral Authority
• It represents the most credible geography for the county and builds on existing cultural and economic areas

9

East and West Cumbria consultation responses

Credible geography
5) Do the unitary councils proposed by the councils represent a credible geography?

Page 119

Yes, establishing unitary local government in East and West Cumbria reflects the social, cultural and economic geography of the area. The
authorities will be naturally supported by transport infrastructure connecting communities respectively to the east and west of the Lake
District National Park. Having populations below 300,000 will enable more local service delivery despite the size, rurality and low population
density of the area and they will still be in the top half of English unitaries by population size.
Key points
Reflects cultural geography: West Cumbria is strongly interlinked through sports leagues and the manufacturing, industrial and mining
history of the region. There are strong links between towns such as Whitehaven and Workington on the west coast regarding education,
nightlife and retail. East Cumbria culture is grounded in agriculture and the strong tourism industry as well as towns like Kendal that
operate as hubs across the region.
Supported by transport routes: transport infrastructure connects communities down the east and the west of Cumbria. East Cumbria is
connected by the A680, M6 and A6 and local train lines and a strong travel to work zone between Barrow-in-Furness and South Lakeland.
West Cumbria is linked by the Cumbria Coast Line and the A66 and there is a strong commuter relationship between Allerdale and
Copeland and between the north of Allerdale and Carlisle
Powered by economic geographies: both authorities will have a GVA over £5.6bn, business rates are evenly balanced between the two
and both have a healthy economic sector mix
The right population size for our geography: Cumbria has fewer than one person per hectare and transport infrastructure largely
operates as a doughnut around the Lake District National Park and the Scafell Massif. While East Cumbria will have a population of 225k
this is substantial in the context of delivering services effectively and efficiently over such a large rural area.
10

The Bay proposal
Page 120
11

The Bay proposal

Improve local government and service delivery
1) Is the councils’ proposal likely to improve local government and service delivery across each area? Specifically, is it likely to
improve council services, give greater value for money, generate savings, provide stronger strategic and local leadership, and create
more sustainable structures?

Page 121

There are challenges presented by this proposal and its impact on services across two counties. The proposal does not consistently
identify how the model will secure service improvement or savings. The complexity of the Bay proposal arises from the requirement to bring
together services from across Cumbria and Lancashire. These challenges have the potential to cause cause significant delay in the Local
Government Reorganisation process and potentially incur significant costs relating to service delivery.
This complexity is reflected in the implementation costs relating to the establishment of the Bay authority alone is more than the entire
proposal for the East West model. This has clear implications for the model with regards to creating greater value for money within a
reasonable implementation timescale. This will inevitably have an impact on improvements in the overall service delivery.
Whilst the proposed authorities would create councils of a significant size, it is likely that the Cumbria element of the proposal will face
many of the same challenges presented to the existing, upper tier authority, Cumbria County Council. These issues relate to providing
services across large distances and large geographical areas.
This could potentially result in services that may not be responsive or representative of the local communities they are intended to service.
Services are also likely to be provided further from the residents they are intended to benefit when compared to the East West model.
This increased scale of council also has implications for local leadership in that once more the geographical size has the potential to
weaken democratic representation when compared to the East West model.

12

The Bay proposal

Delivery on different geographic footprint
2) Where it is proposed that services will be delivered on a different geographic footprint to currently, or through some form of joint
arrangements is this likely to improve those services? Such services may for example be children’s services, waste collection and
disposal, adult health and social care, planning, and transport.

Page 122

The Bay proposal has the potential to have a considerable impact on the geographic footprint of service delivery across Cumbria and
Lancashire. Separating Lancaster from Lancashire has the potential to create a number of difficulties in the implementation of this model
which will impact on service delivery and the speed at which services can be realigned and improved. The high implementation costs could
also have an impact on potential service improvement, especially in the short to medium term. This is a negative aspect of this proposal
when compared the Council’s preferred East West model
Whilst none of the proposed models align perfectly with the Integrated Care Systems, the Bay model presents the closest alignment. Whilst
this may have a positive impact on population health and wellbeing, it still relies on place based partnerships to mitigate misalignments and
doesn’t therefore have significant benefits over other proposals put forward for Cumbria.
It is also unclear how this model could implement devolved government and strategic services such as transport at the proposed scale and
geographical coverage. The challenge of operating services across two existing county areas could impact on the potential for a
meaningful Combined Mayoral Authority. This is detrimental to the proposal when considered directly compared to the East West model.

13

The Bay proposal

Impact on local public services
3) Is the councils’ proposal also likely to impact local public services delivered by others, such as police, fire and rescue, and health
services?

Page 123

This proposal will have far reaching impacts on services such as police and fire and rescue. Blue light services in Cumbria and Lancashire
would need to be remodelled to unpick existing geographical coverage delivery. This is a complicated, not well supported element, of the
Bay proposal that is likely to result in significant implications for service delivery and costs associated with the proposal. Therefore,
successful implementation would require a great deal of time, effort and resources that are not matched by service improvement when
compared to other proposed models.
As previously stated this model does provide the closest alignment with ICS boundaries when compared to other proposals. This could
potentially have some longer terms benefits for population health and well being but it would still require placed based partnerships to
realise the benefits. Therefore, these benefits could be realised utilising the East West model. None of the proposals submitted to
Government align perfectly with the ICS boundaries.

14

The Bay proposal

Support for the proposal
4) Do you support the proposal from the Councils

Page 124

The Bay model is an aspirational proposal that offers a strong vision for the Bay area but is less comprehensive on the benefits for the rest
of Cumbria. The proposal does not also adequately address, at this moment in time, the structural challenges regarding police and fire
boundaries, how it provides a viable footing for devolution and the real challenge of separating Lancaster from Lancashire.
The implementation of the proposal would therefore present a number of significant issues, especially when combined with the relative
slow the speed at which the proposals could be implemented. So, whilst the proposal is sympathetic to existing geographical and
functioning economic areas such as West Cumbria the large implementation costs and the length and value of transformation, this model
does not offer the proposed benefits of the East West model within comparable timescales.

15

The Bay response

Credible geography
5) Do the unitary councils proposed by the councils represent a credible geography?

Page 125

The proposal demonstrates public and political support from within the bay area but includes little public support and little analysis of the
northern districts as a credible geography. The scale of the authorities this model will create has the potential to encounter geographical
delivery issues. Whilst services would be offered closer to residents than many existing services the authorities under this proposal would
face many of the same issues that are faced by Cumbria County Council, the current upper tier authority.
The proposal goes some way to recreating historical cultural and geographical boundaries that align to an established sense of place. It
maintains the critical connection between Allerdale and Copeland Council areas, however, the scale of the proposed authorities are larger
than the East West proposal and therefore potentially do not capitalise on the opportunity to create strong democratic representation in
services embedded within local communities.

16

Cumbria County
Council proposal
Page 126
17

Cumbria County Council proposal

Improve local government and service delivery
1) Is the councils’ proposal likely to improve local government and service delivery across each area? Specifically, is it likely to
improve council services, give greater value for money, generate savings, provide stronger strategic and local leadership, and create
more sustainable structures?

Page 127

Whilst this model may appear attractively simple to implement, it offers limited potential for transformation and service improvement due to
the continuity aspects of the proposal. The size and scale of the county makes it very difficult to provide effective services at a countywide
geography. When coupled with a lack of transformational change, this furthermore puts the deliverability of the proposed savings into
question.
The removal of district level authorities and the creation of a single countywide unitary will result in services that will be less local and
responsive than existing services. Cumbria is a huge area and services operated on this geography risk losing losing the connection with
voters.
This proposal also limits the potential for a Combined Mayoral Authority and the opportunities for further devolving of powers to the area.
This may have an impact on the future of key strategic services and the ability to secure significant investment into the county.
A single authority for the whole county geography may provide an opportunity to develop a single strategic view for the whole of the county
but this approach often fails to recognise the nuances at play in Cumbria. The county has multiple competing interests which can be difficult
to create a universally supported position. For example, the nuclear industry is hugely important for West Cumbria but is not universally
supported across the rest of Cumbria.

18

Cumbria County Council proposal

Delivery on different geographic footprint
2) Where it is proposed that services will be delivered on a different geographic footprint to currently, or through some form of joint
arrangements is this likely to improve those services? Such services may for example be children’s services, waste collection and
disposal, adult health and social care, planning, and transport.

Page 128

Under this proposal the majority of services of move from a district level to a countywide geographical footprint. We believe that this could
have a negative impact on service provision in the county. Services delivered at a countywide level have been notoriously difficult to
manage and implement with services quite often being disaggregated to provide a greater local input. Cumbria County Council have had
limited success in service improvement.
The East and West proposal, for example, is positioned as a balance between some stability (existing county boundaries) and change (two
unitaries) to achieve local delivery at appropriate scale.
There is no plan for mayoral devolution as part of this proposal and which could result in the lack of a clear and differentiated role for a
Combined Authority.

19

Cumbria County Council proposal

Impact on local public services
3) Is the councils’ proposal also likely to impact local public services delivered by others, such as police, fire and rescue, and health
services?

Page 129

This proposal would have minimum impact on public services delivered by other organisations due to the existing geographical scope fo
services such as police and fire and rescue services. This is also true however for other models such as the East West model in which
Police and fire and rescue services would continue to be delivered on a countywide basis and services such as the ambulance service
would continue to be delivered by the north west ambulance service.
This model would not align with the health authority but none of the proposals submitted achieve total alignment.

20

Cumbria County Council proposal

Support for the proposal
4) Do you support the proposal from the Councils?

Page 130

The Council is not supportive of a single unitary authority for the whole of Cumbria. We believe that this model will not create the required
improvements in services that our residents require. It will also offer a remote form of governance for many residents given the scale and
size of the county.
This model does not allow for the creation of a combined authority and will not unlock the potential for devolution in the county.

21

Cumbria County Council proposal

Credible geography
5) Do the unitary councils proposed by the councils represent a credible geography?

We believe that this proposal does not represent a credible geography. Cumbria is a very large and complex county and does not lend itself
to be a single authority.

Page 131

Whilst the population of the county is 500,000 and the population of the proposed east west split is below 300,000. They would allow for
more local service delivery and they would still be in the top half of English unitaries by population size.

22

North and South
Proposal
Page 132
23

North and South proposal

Improve local government and service delivery
1) Is the councils’ proposal likely to improve local government and service delivery across each area? Specifically, is it likely to
improve council services, give greater value for money, generate savings, provide stronger strategic and local leadership, and create
more sustainable structures?

Page 133

The North South proposal is likely to lead to some improvements in service delivery across the area. However these benefits will be
lessened by splitting West Cumbria into two separate authorities. Many existing services, particularly those provided for by the existing
upper tier authority are provided on a West Cumbria footprint. Therefore the opportunity to capitalise on this existing delivery footprint
would be lost under this model.
Key points
Improve services: Similar to the East West proposal, this model creates the potential for service delivery will be local, focused and aligned
with the needs, of Cumbria. Services would also be delivered on a scale that is appropriate to Cumbria. However, the separation of the
existing delivery footprint of West Cumbria will mean that services will not be necessarily aligned with infrastructure and community assets.
Existing service alignment will also need to be reconfigured on differing footprints which will not enable the existing patchwork of service
delivery to be integrated more effectively to benefit the needs of residents. Many existing services are currently provided by the upper tier
authority in the county are delivered on a west Cumbria (Allerdale and Copeland).
Give greater value for money: This model would create the potential for the delivery of more effective services than the existing
structures are able to provide and unlock resources to be invested in council services which would benefit the residents of Cumbria. These
investments could be made within a timescales that provides greater value for money across the county.
Generate savings: The proposed savings generated under this proposal are

24

North South proposal

Improve local government and service delivery cont’d
Provide stronger strategic and local leaders: This proposal creates the opportunity to create a Mayoral Combined Authority that can
drive strategic leadership and enable greater collaboration on strategic issues. In addition to this it create local authorities of a scale that
can provide leadership at a local level. Critically however, it would see the separation of the west Cumbria functioning economic area at
that local level. This could have issues for issues such as nuclear policy around which the west Cumbria functioning economic area is
based.

Page 134

Create more sustainable structures: The long term running costs for a two unitary council model will be lower than the current local
government. The potential to create a Combined Mayoral Authority could also attract additional funding for services in the county.

25

North And South Proposal

Delivery on different geographic footprint
2) Where it is proposed that services will be delivered on a different geographic footprint to currently, or through some form of joint
arrangements is this likely to improve those services? Such services may for example be children’s services, waste collection and
disposal, adult health and social care, planning, and transport.

Page 135

North and South unitiaries will allow for close alignment with communities in the delivery of services but key aspects of service delivery in
areas such as Adult social care will potentially be delivered on different geographic footprints to existing service delivery because of the
splitting of the west Cumbria area. Whilst this model may potentially take full advantage of the Combined Mayoral Authority Model to
enable joined up services across the county in areas such as skills and transport more localised services will see existing delivery footprints
replaced.
For example under the current system highways are managed under structures that align with an East and West footprint (Copeland and
Allerdale and Barrow and South Lakeland). The proposed North South model will result in key transport corridors fall within different
authorities.
IIn addition to this much of the existing Adult social care and Children's services are delivered on a west Cumbria model. The proposal
would see assets within West Cumbria fall between two differing authorities which may affect service delivery for local residents

26

North and South proposal

Impact on local public services
3) Is the councils’ proposal also likely to impact local public services delivered by others, such as police, fire and rescue, and health
services?

Police, fire and rescue

Page 136

Will not change boundaries: Two unitaries based on North Cumbria and South Cumbria would not impact on the boundaries of the
police, fire and rescue services which operate across Cumbria. Ambulance services are administered across the North West so would also
not be affected.
Retains strategic direction through Combined Authority: Police, fire, rescue, emergency planning and the Local Resilience Forum will
operate across the Cumbria Combined Authority enabling integrated strategic planning.
Consolidating services and intelligence: Other public services require local authorities to have detailed knowledge and intelligence
regarding their communities e.g. safeguarding. Many current local authority services are structured through three locality teams or the six
Districts and this model consolidates these services into two local authority counterparts for data sharing and joint working.
Healthcare
Driving local place-based working: The current healthcare geography of Cumbria does not align with District boundaries and is currently
split between the North Cumbria Health and Care System and the Lancashire and South Cumbria Integrated Care System. Integrated Care
Systems will rely on place based partnerships to deliver effectively, these require local knowledge and understanding which will be
delivered through East and West unitary authorities that reflect the communities and dynamics of local places.

27

North and South proposal

Support for the proposal
4) Do you support proposal from the Councils

Page 137

We are supportive of the principle of two unitary authorities in Cumbria but for the reasons outlined in the responses to previous questions
we believe that there is a better model to improve the services and longer term sustainability of the councils. However, the Council believes
that there are implications arising from this model that will significantly limit the potential strategic benefits from Local Government
Reorganisation in the county.
The dividing of West Cumbria into two separate unitary authorities results in the separation of a strong cultural and economic functioning
area. West Cumbria provides a strong existing footprint for delivery across a range of services but it is also home to a internationally
significant nuclear cluster, which provides a significant proportion of the areas employment and economic future.

28

North and South Proposal

Credible geography
5) Do the unitary councils proposed by the councils represent a credible geography?

Page 138

The proposal presents a credible geography in terms of the appropriate size of the proposed authorities to create the potential for service
improvements in Cumbria. However, the proposal would see the key functioning economic area of West Cumbria divided into two different
authorities.
Key points
• The proposal doesn’t recognise the strong links in West Cumbria in cultural geography. There are strong links between the towns or
Workington and Whitehaven for example. The area is served by a single further education college
• Transport infrastructure connects communities down the east and the west of Cumbria. East Cumbria is connected by the A66, M6 and
A6 and local train lines and a strong travel to work zone between Barrow-in-Furness and South Lakeland. West Cumbria is linked by the
Cumbria Coast Line and the A66 and there is a strong commuter relationship between Allerdale and Copeland and between the north of
Allerdale and Carlisle

29

Page 139

30

This page is intentionally left blank

